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1. INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 
The Town of Midland, a forward-thinking municipality, occupies a 
unique position in the Heart of Georgian Bay. The S.S. Keewatin (“Kee” 
or “Ship”), a 1907 Ocean Liner museum ship, is located nearby in Port 
McNicoll, its home while in the CPR’s Great Lakes service from 1912 to 
1965. It returned there in 2012, a century after its first arrival, to be the 
centerpiece of a heritage focused community being developed by a 
subsidiary of Skyline Investments Inc.

Skyline is a Toronto based developer and operator of hospitality 
properties, which in 2011 started its multi-million dollar involvement in 
the S.S. Keewatin by repatriating the Ship, from its mooring, since 1967, 
in Lake Kalamazoo, Michigan to Port McNicoll.  Since then it has been 
lovingly restored by many local volunteers and craftsmen. Subse-
quently the project was shelved and the property sold, making the 
Kee a relative tourist orphan with a restricted future.

Even though it is subject to the geographical impediment of being 
well off the beaten path, without any neighboring draws, good mar-
keting has made S.S. Keewatin into an internationally recognized top-
of-mind attraction for Simcoe county and Southern Ontario. With its 
changed relationship to the area Skyline believes that the future of 
the S.S. Keewatin is best served by it being moved to Midland. There-
fore it proposes to gift the Ship, a world class Canadian historical icon, 
to the Town with a continuing operating grant to ensure no financial 
exposure; this offer has the support and goodwill of Scott Warnock, 
Mayor of Tay Township.
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HISTORY
S.S. Keewatin (the “Kee”) is an historic passenger liner that sailed be-
tween Port Arthur and Fort William (now Thunder Bay) on Lake Supe-
rior and Owen Sound on Georgian Bay between 1908 and 1911.

Built by Fairfield Shipbuilding and Engineering Company in Govan, 
Scotland as hull No. 453, the Kee was designed with comfort, class and 
beauty in mind and is five years older than the Titanic. She is 350 feet 
long, 27 feet deep and weighs 3,856 tons, or about 8 million pounds. 
She was launched on July 6, 1907 and carried passengers and pack-
aged freight goods for Canadian Pacific Railway’s (CPR) Great Lakes 
steamship service for almost 60 seasons. Together with other ships 
in the CPR fleet, she was responsible for advancing the economic 
development of Ontario, Alberta and Saskatchewan. These ships 
carried immigrants/pioneers and their families, equipment, supplies 
and millions of tons of grain and connected Eastern Canada with 
Western Canada by using the Great Lakes. In 1920, Keewatin and her 
sister ship Assiniboia began a “Rail/Ship” transcontinental tourist ser-
vice in conjunction with the CPR “Canadian” scenic trains pioneering 
tourism in Canada. The ship’s service was discontinued in 1965 and 
she was retired in November 1965.

In 1967  Keewatin was purchased by a West Michigan entrepreneur, 
marina owner and Great Lakes Historian, Mr. Roland J. Peterson  and 
was moved to Douglas, Michigan on Lake Kalamazoo. Keewatin was 
operated as an event ship and in 1980 became a museum ship “Kee-
watin Maritime Museum” across the river from the summer retreat 
Saugatuck.   
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CURRENT STATUS
In August of 2011 the Keewatin was purchased by Canadian develop-
er Skyline International Developments Inc. She was dredged from the 
Kalamazoo River, moved into Lake Michigan then towed back to Port 
McNicoll for restoration and permanent display as a maritime mu-
seum and event facility. She returned, with great fanfare and the de-
light of thousands of waiting fans, to Port McNicoll on June 23, 2012, 45 
years after she left and 100 years after May 12, 1912 when the fleet was 
moved from Owen Sound and began working from the Port McNicoll 
dock.

PORT MCNICOLL - JUNE 23, 2012
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S.S. Keewatin will be 111 years old in 2018. The Kee is the epitome of a by-
gone era and a symbol of the growth and development of the Great 
Lakes. She is the last true Edwardian era steamer left in the world out 
of 3800 built during the Industrial Revolution and in the same culture 
and traditions as RMS Titanic. Keewatin is also the last Great Lakes 
passenger liner and a treasured piece of Canadian history, contain-
ing a large cultural and historic significance in machinery, clothes, 
furniture, china, luggage and other artifacts from her Georgian Bay 
operating era. She is indeed a proud part of Canada’s Maritime Her-
itage and can provide an illustrious shine in her new home for many 
years to come. S.S. Keewatin is part of the great untold story of the 
building of Canada’s Confederation.

LAST TRUE EDWARDIAN STEAMER
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The not for profit corporation, The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin 
Foundation was formed to save, restore and operate the ship.  The 
Friends of Keewatin charity is led by CEO Eric Conroy, who negoti-
ated the purchase of Keewatin on behalf of Skyline, engineered the 
removal from Michigan and created the not for profit corporation at 
Skyline’s direction. Open to the public for tours, weddings, gradua-
tions and other private functions from May to October annually, S.S. 
Keewatin is currently attracting on average 10 to 15,000 visitors annu-
ally (3,000 of them being children with free entry). She is a beautiful-
ly restored ship that continues to hold a great fascination for many 
and has also been featured as a floating set for maritime related 
documentaries and television docudramas such as Murdoch Mys-
teries, CBC National Documentaries and for PBS from Chicago.

PLAY EPISODE 701 “MURDOCH AHOY”
© 2013 Shaftesbury Murdoch VII Inc.
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2. MIDLAND – THE IDEAL NEW LOCATION
The Town of Midland is a deep water harbour and the centre of the 
Heart of Georgian Bay in Simcoe County, the focal point of south-
ern Georgian Bay with a population of about 17,000. In the summer 
months, the area’s population grows to over 100,000 with seasonal 
visitors in the surrounding municipalities of Penetanguishene, Tiny 
and Tay Townships.   

LOCAL ARTIST DON WARD
“Midland History Harbour”
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MIDLAND’S HARBOUR AND MARINE HERITAGE:
Situated at the southern end of Georgian Bay in the mouth of the 
Severn Sound, Midland Harbour is a picturesque, natural attraction 
that tourists and boaters from around the world have been enjoying 
for many years. 

The protected, deep-water harbour of Midland Bay is pertinent to 
the town’s growth and development and boasts the largest fresh-
water marina in the world. Without its harbour, Midland would not be 
the same today if it even existed at all. The presence of the harbour 
not only influenced the selection of Midland as the terminus of the 
Midland Railway in 1871, but it also attracted many early settlers to 
the area. Midland was the main port of call for many passenger and 
cruise ships from 1889 until 1965. Commercial fishermen, lumbermen 
and shipbuilders alike flocked to Midland and prospered in the com-
munity. Generations of “Midlanders” were involved in the shipping in-
dustry until the mid 1950’s.

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM
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WHY S.S. KEEWATIN FITS WELL IN MIDLAND’S HARBOUR:
Midland has a long and venerable history with the water, both from 
an historic perspective, its economic foundation, the ship building 
heritage and importantly, it highlights the rich cultural legacy of the 
town and greater region. Tourism in the area can be clearly linked to 
Midland’s waterfront location, maritime heritage and geographical 
location on Georgian Bay and the link to S.S. Keewatin and its history 
and future is a natural fit for Midland. Midland once was known as the 
gateway to the 30,000 Islands, a position we believe can be regained.
 
•  Midland’s historic attachment to shipping and boats and S.S. 

Keewatin’s large historic and maritime value linked to the devel-
opment of the Georgian Bay area. (Midland Ship Yards did all ma-
jor restorations and additions to Keewatin from 1912 to 1953.)

•  Midland’s harbour is an ideal location for a ship of S.S. Keewatin’s 
significance  having been an important port for hundreds of liners 
and cruise ships from 1889 until 1965.

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM
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•  The ship would be a positive addition to the waterfront, visually 
attractive and well received by visitors while highlighting Midland’s 
harbour history and maritime significance.

•  Keewatin would attract more volunteers (who tend to be se-
niors) because of the central location and local transportation.

•  High School students can be attracted to do volunteer hours 
and the ship provides up to 12 well paid summer jobs for youth.

MIDLAND CRUISE DOCKS

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM
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• Midland is an attractive destination for sailors and cruisers alike 
and the addition of S.S. Keewatin to Midland’s harbour will attract 
more  lake traversing visitors to the town.

• Annual harbour-centric events and local attractions will increase 
the number of S.S. Keewatin’s visitors in its new location – in year 
one, potentially 2 to 3 fold with greater growth and accompanying 
revenue in years to come.

• Overnight dockage is available at multiple marinas and yachting 
centres available in Midland. The Town of Midland will benefit from 
the income generated by the ship being moored in the harbour, 
by the media coverage and movies and TV series that will come.

• The ship will naturally bring new visitors to Midland resulting in in-
creased revenue for many small businesses as well as in accom-
modation, dining, souvenirs and retail stores, thereby offering fur-
ther revitalization opportunities for the town.

MURDOCH MYSTERIES PHOTO
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The long-term and on going development of Midland’s harbour and 
its waterfront is essential for the town’s tourism growth and the ad-
dition of the S.S. Keewatin to its waterfront attractions will assist in 
attracting incremental visitors and revenues while adding an addi-
tional lustre to both the town and the region’s  many attractions. The 
waterfront lands play a crucial role within the Town with respect to 
economic development, recreational opportunities and in defining 
the character and lifestyle that residents and visitors enjoy. Further-
more, there have been a number of recent development and plan-
ning activities centred on the waterfront lands which have already 
begun to shape how these lands will change going forward. 

MURDOCH MYSTERIES PHOTO
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Visitors currently can range from 5000 
for Tugfest and 40,000 in one day for 
Butter Tart Fest to 70,000 in three days 
for the visit of the giant rubber duck. 
Nearby 133,000 visitors went in 2017 
to Discovery Harbour and Ste Ma-
rie alone. The Shrine posts excellent 
numbers of visitors with recent years 
being between 90 to 110,000. 

The popular restaurant The Boathouse 
regularly writes about 1000 checks a 
day to patrons for the summer sea-
son. So even if only 20% of these visi-
tors decide to tour the Keewatin, the 
numbers will be remarkably positive. 
This is exactly why, if the ship is placed 
in Midland, it will have a halo visitation 
effect from all of these other robust 
attractions, events and venues.

KEEWATIN

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM
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New Onboard Income Generating Improvements/Changes:

• Open an expanded museum/ship store on board with a larger se-
lection of Great Lakes & Midland themed items for sale.

• Access to the Boathouse dining for coach passengers, special 
lunch and dinner packages that include a tour of the ship, cruise 
with the Miss Midland then visit KEEWATIN combo tickets  ( we cur-
rently handle as many as two busses a day in season).

• The possibility of creating other onboard attractions for special 
events – an Escape Room, nightly “Ghost Tours” as an example.

• Examine a longer-term tie in with the Maritime Heritage aspect of 
the Huronia Museum. There is likely potential to encourage posi-
tive synergies of the marine heritage components of the Huronia 
Museum being situated within the Keewatin to tie in the historical 
significance of the ship and the region, while extending the visiting 
season for both attractions . Consideration is also being given to 
heating the lower section of Keewatin to open another 2000 sq. ft. 
if access to natural gas is available as the ship was heated in the 
US.             
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EVENTS
Organizing seasonal events onboard such as Halloween ghost tours, 
Boo on the Boat, Easter Eggstravaganza, Winterama Treasure Hunt-
ing, murder mysteries, Escape Room and various lecture series etc. 
to attract visitors during off-season months.

• An exciting addition to Midland’s annual in-water boat show.

• English Tea Parties – on Mother’s Day and other special occasions. 

• Dock entertainment as a regular feature including extravagant 
Christmas lighting.

 
CROSS PROMOTIONAL OPPORTUNITIES
• A dedicated and focused cross pro-

motion and long-lasting campaign 
with Midland’s cultural events such as 
concerts and theatre performances 
by offering packages including S.S. 
Keewatin tour/visit, the region’s var-
ious and expansive cultural aspects, 
accommodation and dining pack-
age which would keep visitors in town 
overnight and increase spending in 
local businesses and establishments.
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Even in Port McNicoll, Keewatin is currently the number one attraction 
for cruise ship visitors to Midland as reported from the Cruise Lines.

Keewatin, through its many Maritime contacts has access to a Cana-
dian cruise industry expert with impressive knowledge of the market, 
excellent contacts within the US based Cruise Lines and the potential 
to negotiate, advise and therefore to potentially capture increased 
visitation to Midland in the years ahead if this approach is preferred/
desired.  

• Discounts for purchasing and promotions for patronizing BIA mem-
ber stores in town.

• The ability, going forward, to discuss new land development on the 
waterfront which will then lead to an increase in tourism with the 
possibility of a new ship terminal attracting more cruise ships to 
the area and Midland becoming the embarkation and disembar-
kation point for cruise guests visiting the area. 

• Increased ship visitations by cruise ship visitors to Midland:

    
PEARL MIST - 9 visitations between June and September 2018 @ 210 guests 
on board – work on including S.S. Keewatin in Pearl Mist’s shore excursion 
program suggesting onboard enrichment focusing on Midland and area 
Marine History.  
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Other Cruise Lines and Cruise Companies (existing and new) which 
could be called upon to add Midland to their itineraries for 2020 & 
2021 seasons such as: 

Victory Cruise Lines: 
• Victory I & II (202 guests on board)

Blount Small Ship Adventures & the Great Lakes Cruise Company: 
• Grande Caribe and Grande Mariner (88 guests on board)

Ritz Carlton Yacht Collection (RCYC) 298 guests in 2020 or 2021 on-
ward 

Hapag Lloyd (who bought Canadian Pacific Steamships) is building 
two ships specifically for Great Lakes Cruising

Ponant Cruises is also bringing a new La Champlain for the Lakes

VICTORY 1
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LOW HANGING FRUIT
Income generating opportunities from film crews using the ship as a 
filming location.

• New opportunities to collaborate with central Ontario school 
boards to increase school visitation numbers – 489 elementary 
schools and 102 secondary schools located within the Bluewater, 
Bruce Grey, Simcoe, Muskoka, York and Trillium Lakelands district 
school boards. Simcoe County School Board this summer hired an 
educational specialist to design a program for schools in co-op-
eration with Sainte-Marie among the Hurons and we are encour-
aging other school boards to follow and include other Midland 
attractions to their visitation schedule.  Subject areas cover The 
Industrial Revolution, the building of Confederation, architecture, 
art, and Great Lakes history.

• Promoting Midland as a destination to the many Probus Clubs 
and other seniors clubs and Legions in Ontario through their guest 
speaker events and monthly newsletters. 

• Possible collaboration with the Association for Great Lakes Mari-
time History - an organization of institutions and individuals from 
throughout Canada and the U.S. involved in preserving and in-
terpreting the unique maritime history of the Great Lakes region. 
The Association sponsors an annual maritime history conference, 
encourages new research by both professional and  avocational 
historians, financially supports the publishing of new research re-
sults, and promotes the regular exchange of news and informa-
tion among its members.
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• Review potential synergies with the Great Lakes Shipwreck Muse-
um - one of Michigan’s most popular destinations in the cultural 
tourism industry, attracting over 75,000 visitors each season. Mu-
seum patrons learn about the perils of maritime transport on the 
Great Lakes at the Whitefish Point Light Station, a Historic Site on 
the National Register of Historic Places. 
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4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
We recommend Midland consider and evaluate the installation of 
S.S.Keewatin in its harbour as bringing opportunities to further estab-
lish the town as the cultural and maritime history capital of the re-
gion thereby influencing the town’s ability to attract an exponential 
number of year-round visitors. 

• Establish a HEART OF GEORGIAN BAY MARITIME HISTORY CENTRE with 
S.S. Keewatin as a centre of the exhibit in concert with Huronia Mu-
seum 

• Possibility of creating/building an enclosed exhibit encompassing 
the winterized ship which would allow for 4 season visitations – 
similar to the Vasa Museum in Vasamuseet, Sweden or the Viking 
Ship in Oslo, Norway.

• The development of the Unimin Lands, building a new conference/
convention hotel property for the area, restaurant and a new ship 
terminal to increase cruise ship visitations in Midland and poten-
tially see Midland grow into a more frequent turn-around port for 
embarkation/disembarkation than it is now.

• Consider adopting KEEWATIN as a symbol of Midland’s Maritime 
history.
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Examples of towns & cities which successfully reclaimed their ma-
rine heritage and increased their tourism:

• Baltimore has four historic museum ships including the US Con-
stellation (1854) creating a maritime museum located in the Inner 
Harbour of Baltimore – previously the poorest area of Baltimore 
which has been revitalized and reclaimed

• San Diego and the USS Midway Museum – moored at the Navy Pier 
and the largest museum devoted to carriers and naval aviation. 
The museum has 1 million annual visitors, including 50,000 stu-
dents on field trips and 5,000 children in its overnight program. The 
museum hosts over 700 events a year and in addition to private 
events, the museum has become a popular media venue.  

• The Steamship Valley Camp – most unique Maritime Freighter Mu-
seum on the Great Lakes – Sault Ste. Marie, MI. The SS Valley Camp 
served on the Great Lakes for almost 50 years (1917 to 1966) and is 
now a well-maintained museum ship listed on the National Regis-
ter of Historic Places. She is the most intact example of the classic 
Great Lakes ore carriers and one of the few of which survive to this 
day. She brings in many tourists to Sault Sainte Marie. 

PHOTO COURTESY OF HURONIA MUSEUM
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• Queen Mary in Long Beach, California – centerpiece of a proposed 
$250 million city development plan including entertainment, retail, 
hotel and other venues.  

• S.S. Col. James M. Schoonmaker Museum Ship & National Museum 
of the Great Lakes in Toledo, Ohio – the ship held the title of “Queen 
of the Lakes” as the largest ship operating on the Great Lakes until 
April 1914. In 1987 the city of Toledo purchased the ship to become a 
museum ship tourist attraction and is available for self-guided as 
well as guided-tours as part of the museum.

• Others quickly: Escal’Atlantic in St Nazaire, France (similar to Kee-
watin only bigger as transatlantic), Cutty Sark in London UK, USS 
Hornet in Alameda CA, USS Intrepid in New York NY, USS Lexington 
in Corpus Christi TX, USS Yorktown in Charleston SC ( mostly war 
ships)
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5. SKYLINE’S OFFER
A) Skyline proposes to donate the Edwardian steamship, S.S. Keewa-
tin, and all her contents to the City of Midland in return for a tax re-
ceipt for the current fair market value of the ship and her contents.  
Recent appraisals have indicated the value of the Kee and her con-
tents may be worth up to $48,300,000.

B) The RJ and Dianne Peterson Keewatin Foundation is a registered 
charity, established for the purpose of educating the public about 
the history of the Ship and transportation on the Great Lakes, Port 
McNicoll, Ontario.  This entity is supported by volunteers, operating 
under paid management, that run the day to day operation of the 
vessel and all of its programs.  Currently three directors of the five 
are individuals who are affiliated with Skyline. Skyline proposes that 
these individuals would resign, allowing Midland to fill the resulting 
vacancies with their own candidates.  The Foundation will contin-
ue to manage the day-to-day affairs of the Ship for a period of 10 
years and will continue to operate out of the Ship pursuant to a lease 
agreement with the Town. 

C) Further, Eric Conroy, the President and CEO of the Foundation and 
the person responsible for her current successes, has agreed to re-
main involved, under or a five year contract, to continue to integrate 
the move, implement plans, and train a successor.  His salary will be 
paid by the Foundation.

D) As described in detail in a memorandum from Miller Thomson LLP 
to Skyline (which Midland has seen), Skyline wishes to donate the Kee 
to Midland as a gift of cultural property.  In order to do so, Midland is 
required to submit an application to the Minister of Canadian Her-
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itage for designation as a public authority capable of maintaining 
and preserving the Kee as well as an application to the Cultural Prop-
erty Review Board for tax certification of the Ship as cultural property.  

E) In order to facilitate the donation and ongoing preservation of the 
Ship, Skyline will make the following monetary contributions to Mid-
land:

 (i) Skyline will cover all out of pocket reasonable legal costs in-
curred by Midland in accepting donation of the Ship, including those 
incurred to prepare and submit the noted applications;

 (ii) Skyline will pay all reasonable and pre-agreed expenses in 
relation to the delivery of the Kee to the Midland docks and to ensur-
ing its safe and secure installation;

 (iii) To the extent that the Kee is operated in the same manner 
as it is now, pursuant to the same procedures as currently described 
in the Governance Manual provided, pursuant to the gift agreement, 
when negotiated, Skyline will provide a form of ten year guarantee 
to Midland against any cumulative financial loss in connection with 
the Ship so that the maintenance and associated operations of the 
Ship does not cost Midland any expense.  If the Governance Manual 
is amended within the noted 10-year period, Skyline will consider, de-
pending on the nature of any such amendment, whether to continue 
to provide the guarantee.

 (iv) For a period of 10 years, Skyline will commit to contribute 
an amount to the Ship if the operations of the Ship do not generate 
a $40,000 surplus before the costs of restoration, maintenance, and 
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preservation of the Ship.  For clarity, where the Ship generates sur-
plus revenue (before costs of restoration, maintenance, and pres-
ervation) or otherwise has cash in excess of $40,000 in a given year 
within the noted period, Skyline will not be obligated to contribute to 
the noted expenses. 

 (v) Skyline will enter into a pledge agreement with Midland 
pursuant to which Skyline will promise to donate up to $1,000,000 to 
be used towards the permanent installation of the Ship (i.e., the con-
struction of its own dock) as part of the development of the Midland 
harbour and adjacent lands.  Any such pledge agreement will termi-
nate after 10 years from the date of the Agreement, such that if the 
development does not commence within 10 years, Skyline may, but 
will not be obligated to, make the pledged gift. 

 (vi) Upon the change of the Ship’s ownership, Skyline will forgive 
all of the Foundation’s outstanding debt to Skyline and such forgive-
ness will be treated as a gift to the Foundation.

F) Skyline has provided a detailed inventory, inspection report and 
valuation of the entire ship and contents and guarantees that the 
vessel will be in this condition upon delivery.
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6. CONCLUSION & SUMMARY
It is without question that the S.S. Keewatin, her priceless contents and 
her story fit well with the history of the Town of Midland.  Her presence 
in Midland will ensure that the history and heritage spanning 11 de-
cades is preserved for future generations of Canadians while gen-
erating new income for the town. Midland residents already feel a 
great affinity for the ship and will embrace her presence in their har-
bour. Many of the items on board were donated by locals from Mid-
land, Penetanguishene, Tiny and surrounding areas when the ship 
returned in 2012. Many Midland citizens worked on board and four of 
her Captains are buried in a Midland graveyard.   The ship is run by 
a fully functioning volunteer based group that has now 5 years of 
experience. Keewatin also has ongoing agreements with both the 
Provincial and Federal Government for student summer subsidies.

Friends of Keewatin have also been very successful with large Federal 
Government grants such as the recent Canada 150 $480,000 match-
ing funds obtained to renovate the Port McNicoll Historic Docks. In 
her restored condition Keewatin will be a “turnkey” operation the day 
after it reaches the Midland Docks. The move itself will garner inter-
national coverage and be more exciting and well attended than it 
was for its move in 2012.

The addition of the Keewatin as a vibrant and unique tourism offer-
ing in Midland could act as an impetus for a strengthening of the 
overall cultural, historic and marine heritage attractions within the 
region. With the capability to harness much of which already exists, 
creating a robust and rich plan that can be implemented easily and 
which will increase tourism contributions and monetization as well 
as provide a wonderful new site for residents and visitors alike. 
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SUMMARY
• When and if the ship moves to Midland she will be in “ship-shape” 

condition fully accessible for public viewing. Therefore, the town 
should not be concerned about any costs for major restoration 
and the ship will also showcase beautifully. It is important to note 
that ongoing restorations of a 111 year old vessel is part of the busi-
ness and is covered in operating manuals.

• The expectation is there will be minimal maintenance and nor-
mal wear and tear re the ongoing costs for the ship during the de-
cade and more she will be located in Midland. The ship is current-
ly profitable and there should be no large capital costs incurred 
that cannot be covered during the foreseeable future. So, the ROI 
on the plan to bring her is secure. The excess funds beyond break 
even in the income generated from the revenues of the ship can 
be directed towards local charitable foundations and the town’s 
cultural pursuits at Council’s pleasure.  

• The ship can truly become the focal point of a resurgent campaign 
to renew Midland’s position/place as the gateway to the 30,000 is-
lands with this addition. 

• And, the maritime concept which we have already indicated of-
fers a natural longer-term opportunity to potentially move the 
Maritime aspect of the Huronia Museum into the Keewatin so af-
fording a remarkable and singular piece of maritime heritage. This 
will also benefit the Huronia Museum from an income split, but will 
also free space for expansion of their First Nations and local Pio-
neer displays.
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• Timing is important. Keewatin needs to be out of Port McNicoll by 
end of May early June to be able to catch the season. There are a 
number of bookings already made for the season.

• Also important will be the preparation of facilities to make ready for 
Keewatin’s arrival and handle day to day operations on the docks.

• It should also be noted that the application to the Canada Revenue 
Agency for the tax receipt can take up to a year or more. Skyline 
is prepared to operate Keewatin, through the Friends of Keewatin 
during this time and until a date would be set for final closing.

• Skyline is also prepared to take the risk that the Canada Revenue 
Agency would decide against the request for a Tax Receipt and 
continue to support the KEEWATIN operation until appeals or other 
arrangements can be made
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7. FINAL ADDENDUM

HISTORIC JUSTIFICATION
OS/NI JUSTIFICATION

CULTURAL PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION
S.S. Keewatin
CPR Great Lakes  Passenger Steamship Service
Builder: Fairfield Shipbuilding and Engineering Company, Limit-
ed, Govan, Scotland
Yard No. 453
Construction: Half inch riveted steel plate
Gross tonnage 3,856
Dimensions: Length overall: 350’ x Beam 43’8” Draft 26’
Machinery: Single screw (16’6”); 3,300 HP Quadruple expansion 
reciprocating steam engine; four 220psi coal fired Scotch boil-
ers. Maximum speed 16 knots. Cruising speed 14 knots. 
Passengers (berthed): 288, First Class in 108 Staterooms; Officers 
and Crew: 86

Key Dates: 
• Commissioned 20 February, 1907
• Launched 6 July, 1907
• Maiden voyage to Montreal 14 September 1907
• Split in two at Davie Shipyard, Quebec City, 5015 October 
1907 
• Towed to Buffalo, NY, 15 October – 7 December 1907 
• Reassembled by Buffalo Dry Dock 9-19 December, 1907 
• Travelled under own power to Owen Sound, ON, 19-25 De-
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cember, 1907
• Initial Great Lakes passenger service from Owen Sound, later 
from Port McNicoll
• Fitting out by CPR 2 January-2 October, 1908
• Initial Great Lakes passenger voyage 7-10 October 1908
• Initial passenger service from Port McNicoll commenced 23 June 
1912
• Decommissioned by the CPR 29 November 1965 
• Sold and towed from Port McNicoll to Saugatuck, Michigan, 24-
27 June, 1967
• Preserved as a museum ship at Douglas Michigan.
• Purchased by a subsidiary of Skyline Investments, 10 September, 
2011
• Towed to Port McNicoll, 19-23 June 2012.

OUTSTANDING SIGNIFICANCE
At the beginning of the nineteenth century steam power dominated  
the world the way mobile phones do today. During 1901 Frank Lloyd 
wrote in “The Art and Craft of the Machine” that in the new age of 
“steel and steam”, steam locomotives and steamships had become 
the modern equivalents of works of art in previous history. In this con-
text, the S.S. Keewatin combines science and art in what, as early as 
the 1820s in Germany, was defined by the term Gesamtkunstwerk, an 
all embracing synthesis of many forms of production. In this sense, 
the Keewatin may be understood as a union of three different forms 
of scientific and artistic endeavour: 1) The hull and superstructure of 
the ship itself understood in terms of design, engineering and aes-
thetics – a fulfillment of Louis Sullivan’s famous dictum “form follows 
function.” 2) The engineering features of the interior of the hull – en-
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gines, boilers, electrical equipment, machinery for navigation and 
steering, air circulation, plumbing and other details. 3) Interior design 
and outfitting of passenger accommodation, including decoration 
of public rooms and staterooms, provision of tableware, bedding, 
furniture and scores of other items.   
  
The Keewatin is also outstanding as one of only two surviving Great 
Lakes passenger ships of the decade from 1900-1910. While the former 
S.S. Juniata, launched in 1904, is slightly older, it was extensively rebuilt 
between 1940-1941 in Modernist style and renamed Milwaukee Clip-
per. The Keewatin, however, in spite of cautious upgrading during its 
service life, has retained its appearance of a classic passenger ship 
of 1907, and in this respect represents a cultural and historic treasure 
of extraordinary rarity and importance. 

AESTHETIC QUALITIES / VALUE IN STUDY OF THE ART OF SHIPBUILD-
ING
It should be noted that the Keewatin and her sister ship Assiniboia 
(Fairfield, Govan, Hull No. 452), destroyed by fire in November 1969 
during conversion to a floating restaurant in the United States, were 
built at virtually the same time as the famous Cunard turbine steam-
ers Lusitania and Mauretania completed in 1907. While the existence 
of both Cunard liners is now represented primarily through period 
photography, the Keewatin is an authentic passenger ship of that 
era, providing visitors with the unique experience of seeing and ex-
ploring a real, fully appointed passenger ship of the Edwardian era 
(1901-1910) and following its entire working history through its chrono-
logical displays. 
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NATIONAL IMPORTANCE
In documenting the outstanding significance of the S.S. Keewatin, it 
is essential to emphasize its remarkable importance to Canada and 
the Canadian people. The maritime part of what became a world-
wide Canadian Pacific Railways transportation network began in 
1883 with the establishment of passenger ship services on the Great 
Lakes during the construction of the CPR’s transcontinental railway 
line. In all, the CPR’s Great Lakes  fleet consisted of six passenger ships: 
initially the Alberta, Algoma, Athabasca built in 1883 as virtually iden-
tical units by the Scottish Clyde shipyard of Aitken & Mansel (1863-
1890) and Manitoba, built at Owen Sound in 1889 as a replacement 
for the Algoma, sunk in 1885, and finally the Keewatin and Assiniboia. 
From its Great Lakes beginnings, the CPR expanded its passenger 
ship services to the Pacific and the Atlantic. The Pacific route was 
already established in the 1890s, followed by the development of the 
Atlantic route after 1901, the acquisition of the Elder Dempster Line’s 
Canadian branch, the Beaver Line in 1903, and in 1917 on the retire-
ment of the third generation of its owners, the Allan Line Royal Mail 
Steamers, one of the world’s great private shipping lines.  

Of all the passenger ships built for the CPR, the Keewatin is the sole 
survivor of a once large, world wide fleet. Saved from scrapping by 
the foresight of Diane and R. J. Peterson, the Keewatin was  berthed 
as a museum ship at Douglas, Michigan from 1967-2012, after which it 
was acquired by Canadian interests and returned to Canadian wa-
ters!  

The S.S.Keewatin is more than a ship; it is not only a precious icon of 
the art of shipbuilding,but also a visible, tangible fully three dimen-
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sional icon of Canadian life and Canadian history. In the context of 
the worldwide operations of the CPR it is also an icon of internation-
alism, of the meeting of different cultures, different peoples, different 
languages. It is bound up in so many ways with so many aspects of 
Canadian life that words cannot express them sufficiently. 

CONDITION AND CONCLUSION
It must also be noted that the return of the Keewatin to Canada in 
2012 and the extensive program of renovation and restoration work 
involved in returning it to its full glory has been and continues to be 
a noble act of Canadian patriotism and service to the best public 
interests of the Canadian people! The survival of the Keewatin is of 
the greatest interest and importance to Canada as a nation, and the 
reclamation of this extraordinary ship for Canada, Canadians and 
indeed for all the peoples of the world, is a supreme act by Canadi-
ans, for Canadians! What does it mean to be Canadian? The S.S. Kee-
watin provides eloquent response to this question! As protectors of 
the last unit of the CPR passenger fleet, as protectors of a  passenger 
ship remarkable and outstanding by virtue of its kind and date, it fully 
merits OS/NI Justification!

     K. Corey Keeble
     ROM Curator Emeritus    
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SHIP APPRAISAL LETTER

 
 
 
 
30 January 2018 
 
 
The Mayor & Councillors 
Town of Midland 
575 Dominion Avenue 
Midland, Ontario L4R 1R2 
 
Ladies & Gentlemen 
 
We are pleased to enclose a Comprehensive Valuation Report, setting out our Estimate of Fair Market 
Value of the Museum Ship S.S. Keewatin, which its owner, Skyline (Port McNicoll) Development Inc., 
intends to donate to the Town of Midland during 2018. The purpose of this Comprehensive Valuation 
Report is to supply information to the Town to make an application to the Cultural Canadian Cultural 
Property Export Review Board. 
 
For the reasons set out in the Valuation Report, our Estimate of Fair Market Value, as at November 2017, 
of the S.S. Keewatin, for the donation purposes, is FORTY-EIGHT MILLION THREE HUNDRED 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($48,300,000).  
 
Should you require additional information about our conclusions, or have any questions or comments 
relating to this Valuation Report, please do not hesitate to get in touch with us at your convenience. 
 
Yours very truly, 
Corporate Valuation Services Limited 
 
Per 

 
 
James P. Catty, MA, CPA•CA, CBV, CPA/ABV, CFA, ICVS, CGMA, CFE 
President 
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FINANCIAL REPORT
S.S. KEEWATIN PRO FORMA ASSUMPTIONS 2019 – 2028

REVENUE
In 2017, the Keewatin had 12,000 paid visitors at its current location 
in Port McNicoll.  It is located at the bottom of a one-way street well 
off Highway 12.  With the move to Midland, general awareness of the 
Keewatin will be greatly enhanced.  Plus, with the number of potential 
visitors to the Midland area for all of the other attractions currently 
located in the area such as Sainte Marie, Discovery Harbour (130,000 
visitors 2017), Martyr’s Shrine (100,000 visitors yearly) and the Butter 
Tart Festival (50,000 visitors in 2017), we believe in 2019 at least 18,000 
visitors will make the Keewatin a must see.

In the succeeding years, we have forecast a very conservative 5% 
yearly increase.  Once the Keewatin is in Midland, in a central loca-
tion, the idea is to try new seasonal activities, promote more educa-
tional tours to schools and cross-promote with all of the other activ-
ities in the Midland area that all show more than 5% yearly increases 
in visitors.  The Keewatin, along with the activities already mentioned, 
will truly make Midland a tourist destination.

No Government grants or sponsorships have been included in reve-
nue for which the Keewatin will be eligible.
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EXPENSES
Wages have been forecast based on current staffing levels, in-
creased by additional staffing needed to handle increased visita-
tion, (5%), minimum wage increases currently in effect and yearly CPI 
(2% average). Presently, the Bank of Canada is forecasting CPI to in-
crease at a rate of 1 – 3% per year.  We have assumed a 2% average 
for all expenses.

Other expenses have been increased by CPI (2% average) and in 
those cases increased visitation will add to the expense, a further 5%.
Each year 8% of revenue is assumed to be spent on Capital Repairs.

Vadim Shub
Chief Financial Officer
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S.S.Keew
atin

M
idland	O

peration
Proform

a	Incom
e	Statem

ent	2019-2028
annual

note
increase

2019
2020

2021
2022

2023
2024

2025
2026

2027
2028

N
otes

Tours	(Visitors)
1

5.00%
18,000

											
18,900

						
19,845

						
20,837

						
21,879

						
22,973

						
24,122

						
25,328

						
26,594

						
27,924

						
visitors	to	increase	5%

	each	year	after	2019
Avg	Ticket	Price

2
1.00

$								
$17.50

$18.50
$19.50

$20.50
$21.50

$22.50
$23.50

$24.50
$25.50

$26.50
assum

e	avg	ticket	price	to	go	$1	per	year

Revenue
Tour	Revenue

315,000
									

349,650
			

386,978
			

427,164
			

470,401
			

516,894
			

566,860
			

620,531
			

678,152
			

739,984
			

Ghost	Tours
3

5.00%
36,000

											
37,800

						
39,690

						
41,675

						
43,758

						
45,946

						
48,243

						
50,656

						
53,188

						
55,848

						
visitors	to	increase	5%

	each	year	after	2019
Gift	Shop

4
5.00%

30,000
											

31,500
						

33,075
						

34,729
						

36,465
						

38,288
						

40,203
						

42,213
						

44,324
						

46,540
						

visitors	to	increase	5%
	each	year	after	2019

O
ther	donations,	TV	show

s,	rentals
5

5.00%
93,000

											
97,650

						
102,533

			
107,659

			
113,042

			
118,694

			
124,629

			
130,860

			
137,403

			
144,274

			
	Does	not	include	Governm

ent	grants	or	sponsorships.

Total	Revenue
474,000

									
516,600

			
562,275

			
611,226

			
663,666

			
719,823

			
779,936

			
844,260

			
913,067

			
986,645

			

W
ages

President
6

96,000
											

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

96,000
						

current	president	to	retire	at	end	2023,	new
	President	rate	-	no	change

General	M
anager

7
2%

54,000
											

55,080
						

56,182
						

57,305
						

58,451
						

59,620
						

60,813
						

62,029
						

63,270
						

64,535
						

all	other	w
ages	to	increase	by	CPI,	unless	explicitly	stated	otherw

ise
Tour	Guide	&

	Personnel
8

7%
24,500

											
26,215

						
28,050

						
30,014

						
32,115

						
34,363

						
36,768

						
39,342

						
42,096

						
45,042

						
increased	based	on	increase	in	num

ber	of	visitors+CPI
Student	Guides

8
7%

15,086
											

16,142
						

17,272
						

18,481
						

19,774
						

21,158
						

22,640
						

24,224
						

25,920
						

27,734
						

guides	to	go	from
	5	to	8	for	2019,	m

in	w
age	2017	$10.70,	2019	$14.10	assum

e	70%
	to	be	paid	by	Governm

ent	program
s

Volunteers	
-

																						
Book	Keeper

9
7%

4,200
													

4,494
								

4,809
								

5,145
								

5,505
								

5,891
								

6,303
								

6,744
								

7,216
								

7,722
								

increased	based	on	increase	in	num
ber	of	visitors+CPI,	m

ore	transactions
Ticket	M

anager/Store	Supervisor
10

2%
21,000

											
21,420

						
21,848

						
22,285

						
22,731

						
23,186

						
23,649

						
24,122

						
24,605

						
25,097

						
Artifacts/Display	M

anager
10

2%
12,000

											
12,240

						
12,485

						
12,734

						
12,989

						
13,249

						
13,514

						
13,784

						
14,060

						
14,341

						
Housekeeping	M

anager
10

2%
17,880

											
18,238

						
18,602

						
18,974

						
19,354

						
19,741

						
20,136

						
20,538

						
20,949

						
21,368

						
Housekeeping	Staff	(Volunteer)

-
																						

M
aintenance	Staff

10
2%

10,500
											

10,710
						

10,924
						

11,143
						

11,366
						

11,593
						

11,825
						

12,061
						

12,302
						

12,548
						

Total	W
ages

255,166
									

260,538
			

266,172
			

272,082
			

278,285
			

284,801
			

291,647
			

298,846
			

306,418
			

314,388
			

Benefits
Total	W

ages	&
	Benefits

255,166
									

260,538
			

266,172
			

272,082
			

278,285
			

284,801
			

291,647
			

298,846
			

306,418
			

314,388
			

N
on-Payroll	Expenses

Hydro
11

5%
5,025

													
5,276

								
5,540

								
5,817

								
6,108

								
6,413

								
6,734

								
7,071

								
7,424

								
7,795

								
Cost	of	Sales	Gift	Shop

12
60%

18,000
											

18,900
						

19,845
						

20,837
						

21,879
						

22,973
						

24,122
						

25,328
						

26,594
						

27,924
						

cost	of	sales	60%
Cleaning	Supplies

13
2%

7,000
													

7,140
								

7,283
								

7,428
								

7,577
								

7,729
								

7,883
								

8,041
								

8,202
								

8,366
								

Equipm
ent	Expense

13
2%

400
																	

408
											

416
											

424
											

433
											

442
											

450
											

459
											

469
											

478
											

Com
m

unications
13

2%
1,766

													
1,801

								
1,837

								
1,874

								
1,912

								
1,950

								
1,989

								
2,029

								
2,069

								
2,111

								
W

aste	Rem
oval

14
7%

2,500
													

2,675
								

2,862
								

3,063
								

3,277
								

3,506
								

3,752
								

4,014
								

4,295
								

4,596
								

increase	at	the	sam
e	percent	as	visits	5%

	+	CPI	2%
U

niform
s

14
7%

5,150
													

5,511
								

5,896
								

6,309
								

6,751
								

7,223
								

7,729
								

8,270
								

8,849
								

9,468
								

increased	based	on	increase	in	num
ber	of	visitors+CPI

Training	CPR	course
13

2%
3,600

													
3,672

								
3,745

								
3,820

								
3,897

								
3,975

								
4,054

								
4,135

								
4,218

								
4,302

								
Training	first	Aid	Course

13
2%

990
																	

1,010
								

1,030
								

1,051
								

1,072
								

1,093
								

1,115
								

1,137
								

1,160
								

1,183
								

M
aintenance	Defibulator

13
2%

300
																	

306
											

312
											

318
											

325
											

331
											

338
											

345
											

351
											

359
											

Repairs	&
	M

aintenance
13

2%
3,300

													
3,366

								
3,433

								
3,502

								
3,572

								
3,643

								
3,716

								
3,791

								
3,866

								
3,944

								
Bank	Fees	,	Credit	cards

15
2%

9,480
													

10,332
						

11,246
						

12,225
						

13,273
						

14,396
						

15,599
						

16,885
						

18,261
						

19,733
						

2%
	of	revenue	(	70%

	of	revenue	is	paid	by	credit	cards)	
Advertising	&

	Prom
otion

13
2%

19,000
											

19,380
						

19,768
						

20,163
						

20,566
						

20,978
						

21,397
						

21,825
						

22,262
						

22,707
						

Insurance
16

5%
20,004

											
21,004

						
22,054

						
23,157

						
24,315

						
25,531

						
26,807

						
28,148

						
29,555

						
31,033

						
increase	at	the	sam

e	percent	as	visits	5%
M

unicipal	Taxes
17

-
																						

assum
ing	no	taxes	if	M

idland	ow
ns

Legal/Professional	fees
13

2%
10,000

											
10,200

						
10,404

						
10,612

						
10,824

						
11,041

						
11,262

						
11,487

						
11,717

						
11,951

						
Volunteer	Expense

13
2%

6,000
													

6,120
								

6,242
								

6,367
								

6,495
								

6,624
								

6,757
								

6,892
								

7,030
								

7,171
								

Total	N
on-Payroll	Expenses

112,515
									

117,101
			

121,915
			

126,968
			

132,275
			

137,848
			

143,704
			

149,856
			

156,322
			

163,119
			

Capital	Repairs
18

8%
40,000

											
41,328

						
44,982

						
48,898

						
53,093

						
57,586

						
62,395

						
67,541

						
73,045

						
78,932

						
assum

e	8%
	or	revenue

Total	W
ages,	Expenses	&

	Capital
407,681

									
418,967

			
433,068

			
447,948

			
463,653

			
480,235

			
497,746

			
516,243

			
535,786

			
556,439

			

Profit/Loss
66,319

											
97,633

					
129,207

			
163,278

			
200,013

			
239,588

			
282,190

			
328,018

			
377,282

			
430,206

			

*	assum
ption	that	CPI	w

ill	increase	a	norm
al	1-3%

	over	the	next	10	years,	so	w
e	w

ill	use	the	average	of	2%



A PRESENTATION  to THE TOWN OF MIDLAND

39

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes
Foundation and Keewatin Museum

Annual Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Accountants
A member of IAPA•BHD Association with affiliated offices across
Canada and internationally

2013



RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Financial Information
December 31, 2013

Contents Page

Independent Auditors' Report 1 - 2

Statement of Financial Position 3

Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets 4

Statement of Cash Flows 5

Notes to Financial Statements 6 - 10



Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

156 Front Street West
Suite 301
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 2L6

Independent Auditors' Report Tel : (416) 599-7255
Fax : (416) 599-7268
Email : mds@mdsca.com
Internet : www.mdsca.com

To the Board of Directors of
RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes
Foundation and Keewatin Museum, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31,
2013 and the statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the period then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.

1



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

����������

������ �

Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the organization derives revenue from donations and
ticket sales, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly,
our verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization
and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenue, excess of
revenue over expenses, assets and net assets.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RJ and Diane
Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum as at December 31, 2013, and its operations
and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations.

Toronto, Canada Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
June 23, 2014
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2013

Assets
Current

Cash  $ 4,940
Amounts receivable (Note 5) 22,774
Inventory  33,491

61,205
Equipment (Note 6) 40,709

$ 101,914

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) $ 45,400

Due to Skyline Marine Inc.  (Note 8) 38,856

84,256

Equity
Unrestricted net assets  17,658

$ 101,914

Approved on behalf of the Board:

_______________________________ Director

_______________________________ Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the Period Ended December 31, 2013

Revenue
Ticket sales $ 154,905
Store income 49,099
Special events (Note 9) 41,554
Donations 39,641

285,199

Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion 8,567
Amortization 3,547
Event purchases 4,699
Insurance 200
Repairs and maintenance 102,855
Store expenses 31,870
Tour operations 13,000
Volunteer expenses 5,081

169,819

Other Expenses
Audit, accounting and management fees 75,746
Interest and bank charges 3,908
Office expenses 6,082
Scholarships 4,000
Telephone 2,469
Travel 1,412
Utilities 4,105

97,722

Excess of revenue over expenses for the period 17,658

Unrestricted net assets, beginning of the period -

Unrestricted net assets, end of the period $ 17,658

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Period Ended December 31, 2013

Cash flows from (for) operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses for the period $ 17,658
Item not requiring an outlay of cash:

Amortization 3,547

21,205

Changes in non-cash working capital balances related to
operations:

      

Amounts receivable (22,774)
Inventory (33,491)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 45,400

10,340

Cash flow for investing activity
Purchase of equipment (44,256)

Cash flow from financing activity
Due to Skyline Marine Inc. 38,856

Increase in cash for the period 4,940

Cash, beginning of the period -

Cash, end of the period $ 4,940

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

1. Purpose of the Organization

RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum (the "Organization") is a
charitable organization, as defined under the Income Tax Act, incorporated in 2013 under the
Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act. 

The Organization has entered into a three year lease (May 1, 2013 to June 30, 2016) with Skyline
Marine Inc. (the "Lessor") for the use of a 350 foot ship, built in 1907 in Scotland (the "Keewatin").
The Organization has the exclusive use of the premises located in Port McNicoll and the Keewatin.

The Organization will maintain, repair, renovate and improve the Keewatin, as well as operate a
tourist destination to educate the public about the history of the Keewatin, transportation on the Great
Lakes, and Port McNicoll, Ontario and the surrounding area and marine history.

The total amount of rent payable over the term of the lease is $1.00.  At the end of the lease term, the
Organization will have the right to purchase the Keewatin at a price to be determined by an
independent qualified appraiser.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and are in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. The financial statements have, in management's opinion, been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of significant
accounting policies summarized below.

(b) Cash

Cash consists of bank deposits held with a financial institution.  There are no restrictions on
cash held by the Organization. 

(c) Inventory

Inventory consisting of goods for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value
on an average cost method.  Included in the cost of inventory are direct product costs and
shipping costs.

Inventory is reviewed for obsolescence annually and written down when management
determines that the carrying amount is not recoverable.  The total amount of inventory
writedowns during the year is $NIL.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Equipment

Equipment is recorded at cost.  Amortization is provided on a basis designed to amortize
equipment over their useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Comfort station - straight-line over 5 years
Engine & boiler - straight-line over 7 years
Life boats - straight-line over 20 years
Other equipment - straight-line over 2-5 years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value and
is not recoverable. The fair amount of an asset is defined as the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset. Other factors that may indicate
impairment are expected future asset utilization and economic outlook.

(e) Revenue Recognition

The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions which include
donations, store income, ticket sales and special event income.

Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue from donations is recognized on a cash basis, with no accrual being made for
amounts pledged but not received.

(f) Donated Materials and Services

Donations of materials and services, including volunteer services not normally paid for by the
Organization are not recorded in the accounts, as it would be difficult to determine their fair
value.

(g) Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include amortization and impairment of
equipment.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

3. Financial Risk Management

The significant financial risks to which the Organization is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk,
market risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk.  

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss or the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Organization is not subject to credit risk.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely
basis or at a reasonable cost.  The Organization's exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on its
ability to generate revenue through operations, and raising of funds to meet commitments and
sustain operations. Cash flow from operations provides a substantial portion of the
Organization's cash requirements. Additional cash requirements are met through debt
transactions with the Lessor.

(c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

(i) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rate. The Organization realizes a
portion of its revenues in foreign currencies, consequently is subject to currency risk. The
Organization does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign
currency risk. The following originates in U.S. dollars and is subject to fluctuations.

Current assets $259

(ii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Organization is not subject
to interest rate risk. 

(iii) Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Organization is not subject to other price risk.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Organization initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value.  The Organization
subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair
value.  Changes in fair value are recognized in operations.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and amounts receivable. Financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

5. Amounts Receivable

Amounts receivable consist of:

Amounts receivable $ 22,774
Allowance for doubtful accounts -

$ 22,774

6. Equipment

Equipment is comprised of:

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 512 $ 4,604
Engine & boiler 14,635 1,045 13,590
Life boats 16,687 417 16,270
Other equipment 7,818 1,573 6,245

$ 44,256 $ 3,547 $ 40,709
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 45,400
Government remittances -

$ 45,400

8. Due to Skyline Marine Inc.

The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and without specified terms of repayment.

9. Special Events

Special events income is comprised of:

Murdock Mysteries $ 20,100
Golf tournament 12,221
Martel's dance 6,124
Miscellaneous 3,109

$ 41,554

10. Capital Disclosures

The Organization considers its capital to be the balance maintained in its Unrestricted Net Assets,
which is made up of contributed equity and the operating fund surplus. 

As at December 31, 2013, total managed capital was $17,658. The primary objective of the
Organization is to invest its Capital in a manner that will allow it to continue as a going concern and
comply with its stated objectives. Capital is invested under the direction of the Board of Directors of
the Organization with the objective or providing a reasonable rate of return, minimizing risk and
ensuring adequate liquid investments are on hand for current cash flow requirements. 

The Organization is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements of debt covenants,
and does not presently use any quantitative measures to monitor it capital.  
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Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

40 University Avenue
Suite 601
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 1T1

Independent Auditors' Report Tel : (416) 599-7255
Fax : (416) 599-7268
Email : mds@mdsca.com
Internet : www.mdsca.com

To the Board of Directors of
RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes
Foundation and Keewatin Museum, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31,
2014 and the statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.
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Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the organization derives revenue from donations and
ticket sales, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly,
our verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization
and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenue, excess of
revenue over expenses, assets and net assets.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RJ and Diane
Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum as at December 31, 2014, and its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-
profit organizations.

Toronto, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
June 29, 2015
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31 2014 2013

Assets
Current

Cash  $ 6,322 $ 4,940
Amounts receivable (Note 5) 21,433 22,774
Inventory  36,840 33,491

64,595 61,205
Restoration costs (Note 6) 96,894 40,709

$ 161,489 $ 101,914

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) $ 62,926 $ 45,400

Promissory note payable  (Note 8) 93,551 38,856

156,477 84,256

Equity
Unrestricted net assets  5,012 17,658

$ 161,489 $ 101,914

Approved on behalf of the Board:

_______________________________ Director

_______________________________ Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the Year Ended December 31 2014 2013

Revenue
Ticket sales $ 128,757 $ 154,905
Government subsidies 30,000 -
Store income 29,561 49,099
Donations 24,540 39,641
Special events  (Note 9) 8,614 41,554
Marina income 5,166 -

226,638 285,199

Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion 41,439 8,567
Amortization 2,388 3,547
Event purchases - 4,699
Insurance 839 200
Repairs and maintenance 15,589 102,855
Store expenses 8,522 31,870
Tour operations 11,105 13,000
Volunteer expenses 2,438 5,081

82,320 169,819

Other Expenses
Audit, accounting and management fees 138,452 75,746
Interest and bank charges 3,888 3,908
Office expenses 6,381 6,082
Scholarships - 4,000
Telephone 772 2,469
Travel 1,429 1,412
Utilities 6,042 4,105

156,964 97,722

Excess of revenue over expenses (expenses over revenue) for
the year (12,646) 17,658

Unrestricted net assets, beginning of the year 17,658 -

Unrestricted net assets, end of the year $ 5,012 $ 17,658

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31 2014 2013

Cash flows from (for) operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses (expenses over revenue)
for the year $ (12,646) $ 17,658
Item not requiring an outlay of cash:

Amortization 2,388 3,547

(10,258) 21,205

Changes in non-cash working capital
balances related to operations:

            

Amounts receivable 1,341 (22,774)
Inventory (3,349) (33,491)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,526 45,400

5,260 10,340

Cash flow for investing activity
Cash outlay for restoration costs (58,573) (44,256)

Cash flow from financing activity
Promissory note payable 54,695 38,856

Increase in cash for the year 1,382 4,940

Cash, beginning of the year 4,940 -

Cash, end of the year $ 6,322 $ 4,940

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

1. Purpose of the Organization

RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum (the "Organization") is a
charitable organization, as defined under the Income Tax Act, incorporated in 2013 under the
Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act. 

The Organization has entered into a three year lease (May 1, 2013 to June 30, 2016) with Skyline
Marine Inc. (the "Lessor") for the use of a 350 foot ship, built in 1907 in Scotland (the "Keewatin").
The Organization has the exclusive use of the premises located in Port McNicoll and the Keewatin.

The Organization will maintain, repair, renovate and improve the Keewatin, as well as operate a
tourist destination to educate the public about the history of the Keewatin, transportation on the Great
Lakes, and Port McNicoll, Ontario and the surrounding area and marine history.

The total amount of rent payable over the term of the lease is $1.00.  At the end of the lease term, the
Organization will have the right to purchase the Keewatin at a price to be determined by an
independent qualified appraiser.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and are in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. The financial statements have, in management's opinion, been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of significant
accounting policies summarized below.

(b) Cash

Cash consists of bank deposits held with a financial institution.  There are no restrictions on
cash held by the Organization. 

(c) Inventory

Inventory consisting of goods for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value
on an average cost method.  Included in the cost of inventory are direct product costs and
shipping costs.

Inventory is reviewed for obsolescence annually and written down when management
determines that the carrying amount is not recoverable.  The total amount of inventory
writedowns during the year is $NIL.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Restoration Costs

Restoration costs are recorded at cost.  Amortization is provided on a basis designed to
amortize equipment over their useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Comfort station - straight-line over 5 years
Ship restoration costs - straight-line over 20 years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value and
is not recoverable. The fair amount of an asset is defined as the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset. Other factors that may indicate
impairment are expected future asset utilization and economic outlook.

(e) Revenue Recognition

The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions which include
donations, store income, ticket sales and special event income.

Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue from donations is recognized on a cash basis, with no accrual being made for
amounts pledged but not received.

(f) Donated Materials and Services

Donations of materials and services, including volunteer services not normally paid for by the
Organization are not recorded in the accounts, as it would be difficult to determine their fair
value.

(g) Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include amortization and impairment of restoration
costs.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

3. Financial Risk Management

The significant financial risks to which the Organization is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk,
market risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk.  

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss or the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Organization is not subject to credit risk.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely
basis or at a reasonable cost.  The Organization's exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on its
ability to generate revenue through operations, and raising of funds to meet commitments and
sustain operations. Cash flow from operations provides a substantial portion of the
Organization's cash requirements. Additional cash requirements are met through debt
transactions with the Lessor.

(c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

(i) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rate. The Organization is not subject to
foreign exchange risk as none of its financial instruments are denominated in foreign
currencies.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Organization is not subject
to interest rate risk. 

(iii) Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Organization is not subject to other price risk.
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Organization initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value.  The Organization
subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair
value.  Changes in fair value are recognized in operations.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and amounts receivable. Financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

5. Amounts Receivable

Amounts receivable consist of:

2014 2013

Amounts receivable $ 21,433 $ 22,774
Allowance for doubtful accounts - -

$ 21,433 $ 22,774

6. Restoration Costs

Restoration costs are comprised of:

2014

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 1,535 $ 3,581
Ship restoration 97,713 4,400 93,313

$ 102,829 $ 5,935 $ 96,894
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

6. Restoration Costs (continued)

2013

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 512 $ 4,604
Ship restoration 39,140 3,035 36,105

$ 44,256 $ 3,547 $ 40,709

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of:

2014 2013

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 62,926 $ 45,400
Government remittances - -

$ 62,926 $ 45,400

8. Promissory Note Payable

The promissory note payable to Skyline Marine Inc. is due in full on July 2, 2015.  Interest is payable
on the unpaid balance at a rate of 1.5% per month, commencing on July 3, 2015.

9. Special Events

Special events income is comprised of:

2014 2013

Murdock Mysteries $ - $ 20,100
Golf tournament - 12,221
Martel's dance - 6,124
St. Patrick's Day dance 3,252 -
Titanic tickets 5,362 -
Miscellaneous - 3,109

$ 8,614 $ 41,554
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RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin
Museum
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

10. Capital Disclosures

The Organization considers its capital to be the balance maintained in its Unrestricted Net Assets,
which is made up of contributed equity and the operating fund surplus. 

As at December 31, 2014, total managed capital was $5,012 (2013 - $17,658). The primary objective
of the Organization is to invest its Capital in a manner that will allow it to continue as a going concern
and comply with its stated objectives. Capital is invested under the direction of the Board of Directors
of the Organization with the objective or providing a reasonable rate of return, minimizing risk and
ensuring adequate liquid investments are on hand for current cash flow requirements. 

The Organization is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements of debt covenants,
and does not presently use any quantitative measures to monitor it capital.  
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Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

40 University Avenue
Suite 601
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 1T1

Independent Auditors' Report Tel : (416) 599-7255
Fax : (416) 599-7268
Email : mds@mdsca.com
Internet : www.mdsca.com

To the Board of Directors of
The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin
Foundation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and the
statements of operations and fund balance and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the organization derives revenue from donations and
ticket sales, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly,
our verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization
and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenue, excess of
revenue over expenses, assets and net assets.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The RJ and Diane
Peterson Keewatin Foundation as at December 31, 2015, and its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Toronto, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
June 29, 2016
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31 2015 2014

Assets
Current

Cash  $ 15,458 $ 6,322
Amounts receivable (Note 5) 24,255 21,433
Inventory  43,030 36,840

82,743 64,595
Property and equipment (Note 6) 132,406 96,894

$ 215,149 $ 161,489

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) $ 73,423 $ 62,926
Promissory note payable  (Note 8) 168,551 93,551

241,974 156,477

Net Assets
Operating Fund (Deficit)  (26,825) 5,012

$ 215,149 $ 161,489

Approved on behalf of the Board:

_______________________________ Director

_______________________________ Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Operations and Fund Balance
For the Year Ended December 31 2015 2014

Revenue
Ticket sales $ 132,379 $ 128,757
Donations 35,159 29,706
Store income 33,988 29,561
Government subsidies 14,175 30,000
Special events (Note 9) - 8,614

215,701 226,638

Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion 22,673 41,439
Amortization 8,074 2,388
Insurance 1,620 839
Repairs and maintenance 31,989 15,589
Store expenses 5,637 8,522
Tour operations 94 11,105
Volunteer expenses 3,507 2,438

73,594 82,320

Other Expenses
Audit, accounting and management fees 139,721 138,452
Interest and bank charges 14,905 3,888
Office expenses 8,275 6,381
Scholarships 2,377 -
Telephone 2,153 772
Travel 750 1,429
Utilities 5,763 6,042

173,944 156,964

Excess of expenses over revenue for the year (31,837) (12,646)

Balance, beginning of the year 5,012 17,658

Balance, end of the year $ (26,825) $ 5,012

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31 2015 2014

Cash flows from (for) operating activities
Excess of expenses over revenue for the year $ (31,837) $ (12,646)
Item not requiring an outlay of cash:

Amortization 8,074 2,388

(23,763) (10,258)

Changes in non-cash working capital
balances related to operations:

            

Amounts receivable (2,822) 1,341
Inventory (6,190) (3,349)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,497 17,526

(22,278) 5,260

Cash flow for investing activity
Purchase of property and equipment (43,586) (58,573)

Cash flow from financing activity
Promissory note payable 75,000 54,695

Increase in cash for the year 9,136 1,382

Cash, beginning of the year 6,322 4,940

Cash, end of the year $ 15,458 $ 6,322

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

1. Purpose of the Organization

The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation (the "Organization") is a charitable organization, as
defined under the Income Tax Act, incorporated in 2013 under the Canada Not-for-Profit
Corporations Act.  On June 30, 2015 the Organization filed Articles of Amendment to change its
name from RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum to The RJ and
Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation.

The Organization has entered into a three year lease (May 1, 2013 to June 30, 2016) with Skyline
Marine Inc. (the "Lessor") for the use of a 350 foot ship, built in 1907 in Scotland (the "Keewatin").
The Organization has the exclusive use of the premises located in Port McNicoll and the Keewatin.

The Organization will maintain, repair, renovate and improve the Keewatin, as well as operate a
tourist destination to educate the public about the history of the Keewatin, transportation on the Great
Lakes, and Port McNicoll, Ontario and the surrounding area and marine history.

The total amount of rent payable over the term of the lease is $1.00.  At the end of the lease term, the
Organization will have the right to purchase the Keewatin at a price to be determined by an
independent qualified appraiser.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and are in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. The financial statements have, in management's opinion, been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of significant
accounting policies summarized below.

(b) Cash

Cash consists of bank deposits held with a financial institution.  There are no restrictions on
cash held by the Organization. 

(c) Inventory

Inventory consisting of goods for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value
on an average cost method.  Included in the cost of inventory are direct product costs and
shipping costs.

Inventory is reviewed for obsolescence annually and written down when management
determines that the carrying amount is not recoverable.  The total amount of inventory
writedowns during the year is $Nil (2014 - $Nil).
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Amortization is provided on a basis designed to
amortize property and equipment over their useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as
follows:

Comfort station - straight-line over 5 years
Equipment - straight-line over 5 years
Ship restoration costs - straight-line over 20 years

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value and
is not recoverable. The fair amount of an asset is defined as the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset. Other factors that may indicate
impairment are expected future asset utilization and economic outlook.

(e) Revenue Recognition

The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions which include
donations, store income, ticket sales and special event income.

Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue from donations is recognized on a cash basis, with no accrual being made for
amounts pledged but not received.

(f) Donated Materials and Services

Donations of materials and services, including volunteer services not normally paid for by the
Organization are not recorded in the accounts, as it would be difficult to determine their fair
value.

(g) Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include amortization and impairment of property
and equipment.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

3. Financial Risk Management

The significant financial risks to which the Organization is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk and,
market risk.  Market risk consists of currency risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk.  

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss or the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Organization is not subject to credit risk.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization will be unable to fulfil its obligations on a timely
basis or at a reasonable cost.  The Organization's exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on its
ability to generate revenue through operations, and raising of funds to meet commitments and
sustain operations. Cash flow from operations provides a substantial portion of the
Organization's cash requirements. Additional cash requirements are met through debt
transactions with the Lessor.

(c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

(i) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rate. The Organization is not subject to
foreign exchange risk as none of its financial instruments are denominated in foreign
currencies.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Organization is not subject
to interest rate risk. 

(iii) Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Organization is not subject to other price risk.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Organization initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value.  The Organization
subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair
value.  Changes in fair value are recognized in operations.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and amounts receivable. Financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

5. Amounts Receivable

Amounts receivable consist of:

2015 2014

Amounts receivable $ 24,255 $ 21,433
Allowance for doubtful accounts - -

$ 24,255 $ 21,433

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is comprised of:

2015

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 2,558 $ 2,558
Equipment 14,344 1,434 12,910
Ship restoration 126,955 10,017 116,938

$ 146,415 $ 14,009 $ 132,406
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015

6. Property and Equipment (continued)

2014

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 1,535 $ 3,581
Ship restoration 97,713 4,400 93,313

$ 102,829 $ 5,935 $ 96,894

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of:

2015 2014

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 73,423 $ 62,926
Government remittances - -

$ 73,423 $ 62,926

8. Promissory Note Payable

The promissory note payable to Skyline Marine Inc. is due on demand.  Interest is payable on the
unpaid balance at a rate of 1.5% per month, commencing on July 3, 2015. Accrued interest expense
on the promissory note in 2015 was $10,220 (2014 - $Nil).

9. Special Events

Special events income is comprised of:

2015 2014

St. Patrick's Day dance - 3,252
Titanic tickets - 5,362

$ - $ 8,614
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Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

40 University Avenue
Suite 601
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 1T1

Independent Auditors' Report Tel : (416) 599-7255
Fax : (416) 599-7268
Email : mds@mdsca.com
Internet : www.mdsca.com

To the Board of Directors of
The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin
Foundation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the
statements of operations and fund balance and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.
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Millard, DesLauriers & Shoemaker LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the organization derives revenue from donations and
ticket sales, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly,
our verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the organization
and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenue, excess of
revenue over expenses, assets and net assets.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The RJ and Diane
Peterson Keewatin Foundation as at December 31, 2016, and its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Toronto, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
August 17, 2017
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31 2016 2015

Assets
Current

Cash  $ 62,059 $ 15,458
Amounts receivable (Note 4) 79,287 24,255
Inventory  20,748 43,030

162,094 82,743
Property and equipment (Note 5) 687,429 132,406

$ 849,523 $ 215,149

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) $ 133,356 $ 73,423
Promissory note payable  (Note 7) 329,711 168,551

463,067 241,974
Deferred capital contributions  (Note 8) 513,564 -

976,631 241,974

Net Assets
Operating Fund (Deficit)  (127,108) (26,825)

$ 849,523 $ 215,149

Approved on behalf of the Board:

_______________________________ Director

_______________________________ Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Operations and Fund Balance
For the Year Ended December 31 2016 2015

Revenue
Donations $ 82,214 $ 35,159
Ticket sales 104,096 132,379
Store income 35,994 33,988
Government subsidies 6,300 14,175
Amortization of deferred capital contributions 13,168 -

241,772 215,701

Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion 25,978 22,673
Amortization 24,734 8,074
Insurance - 1,620
Repairs and maintenance 49,343 31,989
Store expenses 22,288 5,637
Tour operations 814 94
Volunteer expenses 5,553 3,507

128,710 73,594

Other Expenses
Audit, accounting and management fees 159,885 139,721
Interest and bank charges 27,926 14,905
Office expenses 6,353 8,275
Salaries 10,753 -
Scholarships 300 2,377
Telephone 2,228 2,153
Travel 1,187 750
Utilities 4,713 5,763

213,345 173,944

Excess of expenses over revenue for the year (100,283) (31,837)

Balance, beginning of the year (26,825) 5,012

Balance, end of the year $ (127,108) $ (26,825)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31 2016 2015

Cash flows from (for) operating activities
Excess of expenses over revenue for the year $ (100,283) $ (31,837)
Item not requiring an outlay of cash:

Amortization of property and equipment 24,734 8,074
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (13,168) -

(88,717) (23,763)

Changes in non-cash working capital
balances related to operations:

            

Amounts receivable (55,032) (2,822)
Inventory 22,282 (6,190)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 59,933 10,497

(61,534) (22,278)

Cash flow for investing activity
Purchase of property and equipment (579,757) (43,586)

Cash flows for financing activities
Promissory note payable 161,160 75,000
Deferred capital contributions 526,732 -

687,892 75,000

Increase in cash for the year 46,601 9,136

Cash, beginning of the year 15,458 6,322

Cash, end of the year $ 62,059 $ 15,458

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

1. Purpose of the Organization

The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation (the "Organization") is a charitable organization, as
defined under the Income Tax Act, incorporated in 2013 under the Canada Not-for-Profit
Corporations Act.  On June 30, 2015 the Organization filed Articles of Amendment to change its
name from RJ and Diane Peterson Great Lakes Foundation and Keewatin Museum to The RJ and
Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation.

The Organization has a lease with Skyline Marine Inc. (the "Lessor") for the use of a 350 foot ship,
built in 1907 in Scotland (the "Keewatin"). The lease expires on December 31, 2017.  The
Organization has the exclusive use of the premises located in Port McNicoll and the Keewatin.

The Organization will maintain, repair, renovate and improve the Keewatin, as well as operate a
tourist destination to educate the public about the history of the Keewatin, transportation on the Great
Lakes, and Port McNicoll, Ontario and the surrounding area and marine history.

The total amount of rent payable over the term of the lease is $1.00.  At the end of the lease term, the
Organization will have the right to purchase the Keewatin at a price to be determined by an
independent qualified appraiser.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.

(b) Cash

Cash consists of bank deposits held with a financial institution.  There are no restrictions on
cash held by the Organization. 

(c) Inventory

Inventory consisting of goods for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value
on an average cost method.  Included in the cost of inventory are direct product costs and
shipping costs.

Inventory is reviewed for obsolescence annually and written down when management
determines that the carrying amount is not recoverable.  The total amount of inventory
writedowns during the year is $Nil (2015 - $Nil).
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Amortization is provided on a basis designed to
amortize property and equipment over their useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as
follows:

Comfort station - straight-line over 5 years
Equipment - straight-line over 5 years
Ship restoration costs - straight-line over 20 years
Dock restoration costs - straight-line over 20 years

Grants received for the purpose of funding property and equipment acquisitions are recorded
as deferred capital contributions.  The amortization of deferred capital contributions is recorded
as revenue in the Statement of Operations and Fund Balance in an amount equal to
amortization recorded on the property and equipment funded.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value and
is not recoverable. The fair amount of an asset is defined as the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset. Other factors that may indicate
impairment are expected future asset utilization and economic outlook.

(e) Revenue Recognition

The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions which include
donations, store income, ticket sales and special event income.

Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue in the year received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue from donations is recognized on a cash basis, with no accrual being made for
amounts pledged but not received.

(f) Donated Materials and Services

Donations of materials and services, including volunteer services not normally paid for by the
Organization are not recorded in the accounts, as it would be difficult to determine their fair
value.
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(g) Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include amortization and impairment of property
and equipment.

(h) Financial Instruments

The Organization initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value.  The
Organization subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized
cost, except for investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which
are measured at fair value.  Changes in fair value are recognized in operations.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and amounts receivable. Financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

3. Financial Risk Management

The significant financial risks to which the Organization is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk and,
market risk.  Market risk consists of currency risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk.  

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss or the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Organization is not subject to credit risk.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization will be unable to fulfil its obligations on a timely
basis or at a reasonable cost.  The Organization's exposure to liquidity risk is dependent on its
ability to generate revenue through operations, and raising of funds to meet commitments and
sustain operations. Cash flow from operations provides a substantial portion of the
Organization's cash requirements. Additional cash requirements are met through debt
transactions with the Lessor.

(c) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

3. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c) Market Risk (continued)

(i) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rate. The Organization is not subject to
foreign exchange risk as a nominal amount of its financial instruments are denominated in
foreign currencies.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Organization is not subject
to interest rate risk. 

(iii) Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Organization is not subject to other price risk.

4. Amounts Receivable

Amounts receivable consist of:

2016 2015

Amounts receivable $ 79,287 $ 24,255
Allowance for doubtful accounts - -

$ 79,287 $ 24,255
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is comprised of:

2016

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 3,582 $ 1,534
Equipment 14,344 4,303 10,041
Ship restoration costs 157,712 17,133 140,579
Dock restoration costs 549,000 13,725 535,275

$ 726,172 $ 38,743 $ 687,429

2015

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Comfort station $ 5,116 $ 2,558 $ 2,558
Equipment 14,344 1,434 12,910
Ship restoration costs 126,955 10,017 116,938

$ 146,415 $ 14,009 $ 132,406

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of:

2016 2015

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 133,356 $ 73,423
Government remittances - -

$ 133,356 $ 73,423

7. Promissory Note Payable

The promissory note payable to Skyline Marine Inc. is due on demand.  Interest is payable on the
unpaid balance at a rate of 1.5% per month, commencing on July 3, 2015. Accrued interest expense
on the promissory note in 2016 was $35,609  (2015 - $10,220) and interest expense recognized on
the Statement of Operations and Fund Balance is $25,389 (2015 - $10,220).
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The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2016

8. Deferred Capital Contributions

Deferred capital contributions consist of:

2016 2015

Opening balance $ - $ -
Current year funding grants 526,732 -
Amortization (13,168) -

$ 513,564 $ -
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S.S. KEEWATIN GOVERNANCE

SECTION “A”

MANAGEMENT TEAM CONTACTS
Connie Cochrane (connie@sskeewatin.com) Guest Services
David Blevins (david@sskeewatin.com) Engineering Coordinator
Debbie Lee Pearson (debbie@sskeewatin.com) Ticket Sales
Eric Conroy (ericconroy@ rogers.com) President/CEO
Fred Blair (fred@sskeewatin.com) General Manager
Glen Holmes (glen@sskeewatin.com) Finance Consultant
Lynn Mechan (lynn@sskeewatin.com) Housekeeping
MaryLou Quesnelle (marylou@sskeewatin.com) Artifacts and Asset Management
Mike Herron (mike@sskeewatin.com) Safety Officer
Ralph Lindzon (ralph@sskeewatin.com) Board Member, Legal Consultant
Robert Smith (robert@sskeewatin.com) Electrical Systems Manager
Wayne Coombes (wayne@sskeewatin.com) Marketing Coordinator/Communications

UPDATED JANUARY, 2018
MISSION STATEMENT
The RJ and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation is a history management and marketing 
organization responsible for the care, operation and promotion of a beloved Canadian ar-
tifact.  Our Canadian icon  has its roots in Georgian Bay area of the Great Lakes, County of 
North Simcoe and Province of Ontario as well as the greater country as a whole.  We are 
linked to Scotland in the United Kingdom and Michigan in the United States.  Our mission is 
to promote participation and passion for the S.S. Keewatin, to provide entertainment and 
education and ensure this Century plus year old  Edwardian vessel has long term viability 
while always being responsible and respectful of Keewatin’s heritage and taking fiscal re-
sponsibility for her preservation and continued operation .

VISION STATEMENT
To be recognized as a role model charitable organization in terms of governance, sponsor-
ship and financial strength and to offer the ultimate marine based historic entertainment 
experience by which all similar venues are measured.
.
To be the creator and custodian of generations of dreams and memories that will be en-
hanced by expanding Keewatin into a “living facility”, run by a dedicated volunteer commu-
nity for the benefit of all.

To provide the local community with a venue for celebration and various events that will 
reinforce the values and traditions of the Heart of Georgian Bay as an historic area.

THE RJ AND DIANE PETERSON
KEEWATIN FOUNDATION



S.S. KEEWATIN GOVERNANCE S.S. KEEWATIN GOVERNANCE

There are six pillars which define key strategic direction for the future.

1. FINANCE AND ADMIN PRIORITIES. 
“Friends of Keewatin” have concentrated and will expand on refining our financial record 
keeping. We are a volunteer organization and have experienced several volunteer book 
keepers since we began in 2012.
In the year 2016 our Finance Chair recommended the current book keeper, to be paid mar-
ket rate. The paid book keeper has reduced the number of line items and amalgamated 
areas of similar functions. We plan to continue this restructuring to attain the simplest form 
of recording and reporting available. The management group has been reorganized under 
an assigned and paid General Manager, and team leaders representing each aspect of the 
ship’s functions. Guest Services and Tour Guides, a full time job in summer is paid as is ticket 
sales and retail store. Each individual has been given authority to make day to day deci-
sions based on policy directions from the management board and the President and CEO. 
Regular meetings are scheduled and they usually include two local Board Members when 
convenient. There are no performance incentives for management other than the thrill of 
success.

2. SALES AND SPONSORSHIP.
“Friends of Keewatin” has freed up time for the CEO by hiring a General Manager. The CEO/ 
President, handles all sales and marketing and needs to be able to concentrate on and ex-
pand those  objectives. Evidence of his ability in this area is the many government contracts 
he has secured for staffing (aided by Boad member and Lawyer Ralph Lindzon), advertising 
and property improvements. He also is experienced at events that are a lifeline for a mu-
seum business like Keewatin. A recent “Rope Pull” he organized with the DOCK radio team 
raised $22,503 for the Cardiology ward at the local Heart Hospital and brought 2,000 peo-
ple to the park. Events such as these are a major boost in income and should be regularly 
offered to the public.”Friends of KEEWATIN also organize the largest TOY DRIVE in the region 
at Christmas delivering 5,000 toys to agencies dealing with less advantaged communities.
Developing an increase in bus tours, cruise ships and schools are all part of the plan moving 
forward. “Friends of Keewatin’ has set a performance target of bringing in enough income 
to restore, repair and present Keewatin to the public and start to build a substantial revenue 
contingency that can cushion the future. Keewatin is still relatively unknown and each year 
we see a growth in public interest.
                 
3. ENGINEERING, RESTORATION AND PRESERVATION.
Keewatin has experiences a growing period over the last years since opening to the public. 
Since there is nothing else like it the philosophy has been to try what sounds reasonable 
to accomplish the challenges and amend while we go. We make our own history. Some 
experiences have been disruptive as in 2016 when a faction within the volunteers decided 
to start what in essence was a “unionizing” campaign. It failed eventually but not before 
causing dissention. It was solved through seeking our experienced management during the 
last two years as we attracted a number of new volunteers retired from Government orga-
nizations. These individuals have created a much better work place than had been avail-
able before. The situation has turned to be a positive one as a large number of “Day One” 
volunteers who are dedicated to the success of Keewatin remained. We have also had the 
privilege of young college students that brought energy and enthusiasm that when mixed 
with experience and patience creates a positive enjoyable work environment. 



S.S. KEEWATIN GOVERNANCE
  
4. MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS.
“Friends of Keewatin” have appointed a volunteer to be Keewatin’s marketing manager 
concentrating on group visits and such area as bus tours, group sales, weddings, cruise 
ship visits and local trade. His area also includes brochure advertising and media purchas-
es currently handled by the President, CEO.
The Marketing manager will also promote public speeches by “Captain Rick” on the history 
of Keewatin and the Maritime Heritage of Georgian Bay and the Great Lakes.

Keewatin was instrumental in the creation of a Destination Marketing Organization for North 
Simcoe (comprised of the towns of Midland and Penetanguishene, and townships of Tiny 
and Tay under the banner of “Heart of Georgian Bay”. Both the Marketing Manager and the 
President have been active within the DMO, and also within a group of the attractions in the 
area.

 5. EDUCATION, SPECIAL EVENTS AND VISITOR EXPERIENCE.
“Friends of Keewatin” retained a recently graduated teacher working on her Master’s De-
gree to build and produce an educational package that can be used by schools about Kee-
watin, Confederation, the industrial Revolution and how it relates to southern Ontario and 
specifically the Greater Toronto Area. This year our attraction was endorsed by the Simcoe 
County School Board for use by its schools.
This year as well Keewatin is introducing a communications tool that will greatly enhance 
the visitor experience, increase the group size on each tour, increase the group control for 
the tour guide and act as a safety tool in the event of an emergency. Each tour guide will be 
linked to the tour they handle by a sound system and individual head phones. This system 
is widely used in Europe as it also allows for translation into other languages such as French 
or Chinese. Keewatin will also have 6 “sponsored” students covered by Heritage Canada 
and Ontario Tourism. This allows Connie Cochrane, Visitor Service Director and multi-year 
volunteer, to have a core staff of at least FIVE full time guides to supplement her volunteer 
guides allowing for smooth flow of visitors all day long seven days a week.

6. ORGANIZATIONAL EXCELLENCE.
Keewatin volunteer group ”Friends of Keewatin” have learned a great deal over the five 
years Keewatin has been open to the public. The organizatioin have retained key individu-
als who now have important roles in authority to cooperate on the proper handling of the 
day to day business of Keewatin. Dealing with volunteers is a completely different expe-
rience than dealing with paid staff. It even becomes more challenging when as a charity 
depending on volunteer help mixes with paid staff. We have a team that can handle those 
situations and at the end of the day produce an excellent product for the public. KEEWATIN 
is a unique business model. There is not another major tourist attraction we are aware of 
that does what we do, or exceed in the face of adversity like the crew of KEEWATIN do. All are 
striving to make that situation even better as we build success after success for this great 
Canadian Treasure.

• Each of these pillars will be supported by strategic imperatives outlining a series of tac-
tics that will be employed to support each pillar.

• The process we are adopting, to create a working budget will set the tone of business for 
2018 and beyond.

• Each volunteer is an equal contributor and views and representations are based on real 
time experience from the first years of operation of KEEWATIN to date.
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SECTION “B”
(Updated January 2018)

1.1 THE VOLUNTEER PROGRAM

The mission of the ‘FRIENDS OF KEEWATIN” (the RJ and Diane Peterson nod Keewatin Founda-
tion) is enhanced by the active participation of citizens of the community.
To this end, the ‘FRIENDS” accepts and encourages the involvement of volunteers at all lev-
els of the organization and within all appropriate programs and activities. “Friends” staff is 
encouraged to assist in the creation of meaningful
And productive roles in which volunteers might serve and to assist in recruitment of volun-
teers from the community.

1.2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF VOLUNTEER POLICIES
The purpose of these policies is to provide overall guidance and direction to management, 
and volunteers. These policies are intended for internal management guidance only. They 
do not constitute, either implicitly or
Explicitly, a binding contractual or personnel agreement. The “Friends” reserves the right to 
change any of these policies and to expect adherence to the changed policy. Unless spe-
cifically stated, these policies apply to all volunteers in all programs and projects undertak-
en on or on behalf of the “Friends”.

1.3 ROLE OF VOLUNTEER SERVICES PROGRAM
The productive utilization of volunteers requires a planned and organized effort. The func-
tion of Volunteer Services is to provide a central coordinating point for effective volunteer 
management within the organization, and to direct and
Assist staff and volunteer efforts to jointly provide more productive services. The volunteer 
program is responsible for maintaining liaisons with other volunteer-utilizing programs in 
the community and assisting in community-wide efforts to recognize and promote volun-

TOUR GUIDES
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teering. The Volunteer Program Manager takes primary responsibility for planning for effec-
tive volunteer utilization, for assisting staff in identifying productive and creative volunteer 
roles, for recruiting suitable volunteers, for training management to supervise volunteers 
effectively, and for tracking and evaluating the statistical data reflecting the contribution of 
volunteers to the “Friends”.

1.4 WHAT IS A VOLUNTEER?
A “volunteer” is anyone who chooses to perform services for the “Friends” without compen-
sation or expectation of compensation, (beyond reimbursement for pre-approved speci-
fied expenses) and, who performs a task at the direction of and on behalf of the “Friends”. A 
“volunteer” must be officially accepted and enrolled by the “Friends” prior to performance of 
the task. Volunteers are not employees of the “Friends”.

1.5 SPECIAL CASE VOLUNTEERS
 “Friends” also accept as volunteers those persons participating in student projects, cor-
porate volunteer programs, and other volunteer referral programs. In these cases, a spe-
cial arrangement may be made with the organization, school, or program from whom the 
special case volunteers originate to identify responsibility for the management and care of 
these volunteers.

1.6 EXECUTIVE COUNCIL
Members of the “Friends” Executive Council who are on the management team are drawn 
from its membership and are accepted as volunteers with the “Friends”.

1.7 FRIENDS OF “FRIENDS OF KEEWATIN” AS” VOLUNTEERS
The service of friends of members as volunteers is accepted provided that the volunteer 
service is 1) initiated by the member, 2) provided totally voluntary, 

1.8 FAMILY MEMBERS OF “FRIENDS” STAFF
Family members are allowed to volunteer with the “Friends”. When family members are en-
rolled as regular volunteers, they normally will not be placed under the direct supervision of, 
or within the same department as other family members who are in management.

1.9 SERVICE AT THE DISCRETION OF THE “FRIENDS”
The “Friends” accepts the service of volunteers with the understanding that such service is 
at the sole discretion of the “Friends”. Volunteers understand that the “Friends” may at any 
time, for whatever reason, decide to end the volunteer relationship.
The volunteer may at any time, for whatever reason, decide to sever the volunteer’s rela-
tionship with the “Friends”.
Notice of such a decision should be communicated as soon as possible to the volunteer’s 
supervisor.

1.10 VOLUNTEER STANDARDS AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Volunteers represent a valuable resource for the “Friends”, and its visitors. Volunteers should 
be given meaningful assignments and effective direction, and be recognized for work done. 
In return, volunteers should actively perform their duties to the best of their abilities, volun-
teer at their assigned times, and remain loyal to the mission and procedures of the “Friends”.
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VOLUNTEER MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES
2.1 MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS
A system of records should be maintained on each volunteer with the “Friends”, including 
dates of service, assignments held, duties performed and feedback forms and hours served. 
Volunteers and appropriate managers are expected to submit all appropriate records and 
information to Volunteer Services in a timely and accurate fashion.
Volunteer records shall be accorded the same confidentiality as personnel records.

2.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST
No person who has a conflict of interest with any activity or program of the “Friends”, shall 
be accepted or be allowed to continue to serve as a volunteer with the “Friends”
.
2.3 REPRESENTATIVE OF THE INSTITUTION
Volunteers must seek prior consultation and approval from appropriate staff prior to any 
action or statement which might affect or obligate the “Friends”. These actions may include, 
but are not limited to, public statements to the press, coalition or lobbying efforts with other 
organizations, or any agreements involving contractual or other financial obligations.

2.4 CONFIDENTIALITY
Volunteers are responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of all appropriate or privi-
leged information to which they are exposed while serving as volunteers, whether this infor-
mation involves staff, volunteers, or other persons,
Or involves overall “Friends” business. Failure to maintain confidentiality could result in end-
ing the volunteer’s relationship with the “Friends”.

2.5 WORKSITE
Programs should establish an appropriate workstation for volunteer use prior to the enrol-
ment of volunteers. This workstation should contain necessary facilities, equipment, and 
space to enable the volunteer to perform their duties. The volunteer lounge is available for 
volunteers to use.

2.6 DRESS CODE
As representatives of the “Friends”, volunteers are responsible for presenting a good image. 
Volunteers shall dress appropriately for the conditions and performance of their duties. If is-
sued a nametag and or a uniform, volunteers are required to wear it while they are working 
on their volunteer assignment. 

2.7 TIME REPORTING
Individual volunteers are expected to maintain accurate records of the time they have vol-
unteered. All volunteers will sign in to the Volunteer Services time book...
On boarding Keewatin and sign out when leaving. Volunteer supervisors are responsible for 
submitting a record of these hours each WEEK.

2.8 RISK MANAGEMENT/SAFETY
The safety of volunteers is important to the “Friends”. Volunteer supervisors are expected 
to comply with Provincial regulations for training and protective equipment. Safety mea-
sures should be included in the description of volunteer responsibilities. Volunteers who are 
injured or who are involved in an accident during their volunteer assignment must report 
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the accident immediately to their supervisor. Any on the job injuries are not covered by the 
WSIB (Provincial Compensation program). They are covered by the “Friends” own insurance 
coverage.

VOLUNTEER RECRUITMENT AND ASSIGNMENT

3.1 VOLUNTEER ASSIGNMENTS
Volunteers should have clear, complete, and current descriptions of the duties and respon-
sibilities of the assignment. Before a volunteer is recruited or assigned, a description should 
be developed for the volunteer assignment. This volunteer description should be reviewed 
with and given to each accepted volunteer.
Volunteer descriptions should be reviewed and updated at least every three years by the 
volunteer supervisor, or whenever the position substantially changes.
Descriptions should usually include a summary of the assignment, a title, a listing of respon-
sibilities and qualifications, any training requirement, the time commitment needed for the 
assignment, the supervisor and the worksite location. 

3.2 MANAGEMENT REQUESTS FOR VOLUNTEERS
Requests for volunteers should be submitted in writing by group managers, and sent to Vol-
unteer Services. The request should include a description of the volunteer assignment and 
a requested timeframe. All parties should understand that the
Recruitment of volunteers is enhanced by creative and interesting jobs and by advance 
notice. Volunteer Services reserves the right to refuse to recruit or place any volunteers until 
management are prepared to make effective use of volunteer resources.

3.3 RECRUITMENT
Volunteers shall be recruited by the “Friends” on a proactive basis, with the intent of broad-
ening and expanding the volunteer involvement of the community. Volunteers may be re-
cruited either through an interest in specific functions or through a general interest in vol-
unteering which will be matched with a specific function.

3.4 RECRUITMENT OF MINORS
Volunteers who have not reached 18 years of age must present a written consent of a par-
ent or guardian to Volunteer Services prior to volunteering. The volunteer assignment for a 
minor should be in a non-hazardous environment and should comply with all appropriate 
requirements of Provincial labour laws.

3.5 INTERVIEWING
Prior to being assigned, all regular volunteers should be interviewed to ascertain their suit-
ability for and interest in that assignment. The interview should determine the qualifications 
of the volunteer and their commitment to fulfill the requirements of the assignment; and it 
should answer any questions that the volunteer has about the assignment. Interviews may 
be conducted either in person or by other means. A reference check may be made by the 
volunteer supervisor if appropriate for the volunteer assignment. Whenever possible, staff 
who will be working with the volunteer should participate in the design and conduct of the 
interview. Final assignment of a potential volunteer should not take place without review 
and approval of appropriate staff with whom the volunteer will be working.
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3.6 HEALTH SCREENING
If there are physical requirements necessary for the performance of a volunteer task, a 
screening or testing procedure may be required to ascertain the ability of the volunteer to 
safely perform the tasks. This cost will be paid by the “Friends”.

3.7 CRIMINAL RECORDS CHECK
Volunteers in certain assignments may be asked to submit to a background criminal check. 
Volunteers who do not agree to the background check may be refused assignment. This 
cost will be paid by the “Friends”

3.8 CERTIFICATE OF ABILITY
Volunteers who indicate that they are under the care of a physician for a health condition 
may be asked to present a certificate from the physician as to their ability to perform their 
volunteer duties satisfactorily and safely. Volunteers under a course of treatment which 
might affect their volunteer work will not be accepted without written verification of suit-
ability from their physicians. Any volunteer who, after acceptance and assignment by the 
“Friends”, enters a course of treatment which might adversely affect the performance of 
their volunteer duties should consult with their volunteer supervisor or the Volunteer Pro-
gram Manager.

3.9 PLACEMENT
In placing a volunteer in an assignment, attention should be paid to the interests and capa-
bilities of the volunteer and to the requirements of the volunteer assignment. No placement 
should be made unless the requirements of both
The volunteer and the supervising staff can be met: volunteers should not be assigned to 
“make work” assignments nor should assignments be given to an unqualified volunteer.

3.10 ACCEPTANCE AND APPOINTMENT
No volunteer should begin performance of an assignment until they have been officially 
accepted for that position and have completed all necessary screening and paperwork. At 
the time of final acceptance, each volunteer should have completed a volunteer applica-
tion and received a copy of their volunteer description.
                                                           (7)
3.11 REASSIGNMENT
Volunteers who are at any time reassigned to a new position should be interviewed for that 
assignment and should receive all appropriate orientation and training for that assignment 
before they begin. In addition, any screening procedures appropriate for that specific as-
signment should be completed, even if the volunteer has already been on a previous as-
signment with the “Friends”.

3.12 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
Volunteers shall not perform professional services for which certification or licensing is re-
quired unless currently certified or licensed to do so. A copy of such certificate or license is 
to be provided to Volunteer Services.

3.13 LENGTH OF SERVICE
A predetermined time commitment should be developed with each volunteer assignment. 
At the end of their commitment, this should be re-negotiated. Most volunteer assignments 
request a seasonal commitment. After the end of the current season, the volunteer and 
staff supervisor decide whether the volunteer would like to continue their assignment, seek 
a different volunteer Assignment within the “Friends”, or retire from their volunteer service.
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VOLUNTEER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
4.1 ORIENTATION
Volunteers are given an opportunity to attend a general orientation on the nature, purpose, 
and mission of the “Friends” review of the volunteer program; and, a tour of the Keewatin.

4.2 TRAINING
Volunteers should receive training by their volunteer supervisor to provide them with the 
information on 1) knowledge and skills necessary to perform their volunteer assignment, 2) 
the operation of the program encompassing their volunteer activity, and 3) the purpose 
and requirements of the assignment. The timing and methods for delivery of such training 
should be appropriate to the complexity and demands of the assignment and the capabil-
ities of the volunteer.
                                                             (8)
4.3 MANAGEMENT INVOLVEMENT IN ORIENTATION AND TRAINING
Management members who are responsible for institutional programming and supervising 
volunteers should have an active
Role in the design and delivery of both orientation and training of volunteers. Those manag-
ers who will direct volunteers should have primary responsibility for design and delivery of 
on-the-job training to volunteers assigned to them.

VOLUNTEER DIRECTION AND FEEDBACK

5.1 VOLUNTEER DIRECTION
Each volunteer who is accepted with the “Friends” should have a seasoned volunteer per-
son providing direction for the volunteer assignment. This person should be responsible for 
day-to-day management and guidance of the volunteer, and should be available to the 
volunteer for consultation and assistance. 

5.2 DIRECTION GIVEN BY VOLUNTEERS
A volunteer may direct other volunteers, provided that the directing volunteer is under the 
direct supervision of a management member.

5.3 VOLUNTEER/STAFF RELATIONS
Volunteers and managers are considered to be partners in implementing the mission and 
programs of the “Friends”, with each having a complementary role to play. Each partner 
should understand and respect the needs and abilities of the other.

5.4 ACCEPTANCE OF VOLUNTEERS BY MANAGERS
Volunteers should not be assigned to a management person without the consent of that 
person, in consultation with the Captain. Since volunteers are considered a valuable re-
source in performing the institution’s work, managers are encouraged to consider creative 
ways in which volunteers might be of service and to consult with the Volunteer Program 
Manager if they feel the need for additional training or assistance.

5.5 MANAGER TRAINING
Training on working with volunteers should be provided to managers who direct volunteers. 
Volunteer Services expects to provide effective training to volunteers.
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5.6 VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT IN MANAGEMENT EVALUATION
Examination of their effective utilization of volunteers should be a component in the evalu-
ation of manager persons who are assigned to work with volunteers.

5.7 MANAGEMENT INVOLVEMENT IN VOLUNTEER FEEDBACK
Management who direct volunteers should use the feedback form and evaluate work as-
signments of volunteers each season.

5.8 LINES OF COMMUNICATION
Volunteers should have access to information pertinent to their assignments. This may in-
clude: appropriate memos, Digest, materials, and meetings. To facilitate the receipt of this 
information on a timely basis, volunteers should be included on appropriate distribution 
schedules and may be assigned a site or mailbox for receipt of information distributed in 
their absence. Primary responsibility for ensuring that the volunteer receives such infor-
mation should rest with the management directing the volunteer. Lines of communication 
should operate in both directions and should exist both formally and informally. Volunteers 
should be informed regarding decisions which would substantially affect performance of 
their duties.

5.9 ABSENTEEISM
Volunteers are expected to perform their duties on a scheduled and timely basis. If expect-
ing to be absent from a scheduled duty, volunteers should inform their staff supervisor as 
far in advance as possible so that alternative arrangements can be made. Continual ab-
senteeism may result in a review of the volunteer’s work assignment or term of service, and 
could result in ending the volunteer’s relationship with the “Friends”.

VOLUNTEER SUPPORT

6.1 REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES
Volunteers may be eligible for reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred while un-
dertaking business for the “Friends”. Examples of these expenses include mileage, meals, 
out of pocket expenses, travel and parking. This expense will be charged to the “Friends” 
Finance Department. Prior approval must be sought for any reimbursable expenditure.

6.2 RECOGNITION
The “Friends” plans to hold an annual recognition to highlight and recognize the contribu-
tions of volunteers who have contributed at least twenty hours of service per year, to the 
“Friends”. All management responsible for volunteer
Supervision is encouraged to undertake ongoing methods of recognition of volunteer ser-
vice on a regular basis throughout the year. These methods of informal recognition should 
range from simple “Thank you” to a concerted
Effort to include volunteers, as appropriate, in program planning, decision making, and im-
plementation. 

6.3 VOLUNTEER OPPORTUNITIES
Volunteers are encouraged to develop their skills while serving with the institution. They 
may be assisted through new volunteer opportunities to assume additional and greater 
responsibilities.



S.S. KEEWATIN GOVERNANCE

OTHER POLICIES
7.1 POLITICAL AND CIVIC ACTIVITIES
The “Friends” recognizes the right of every staff member and volunteer to participate in po-
litical and civic activity.
However, all such activity must be conducted on the staff member’s or volunteer’s own time 
and without the use of
The “Friends” name or materials unless specific approval has been granted by the “Friends” 
governing board. As a general rule, all political and civic activities should be conducted out-
side of work or volunteer assignment. A management
Member or volunteer may not display or distribute political or civic materials on “Friends” 
property.

7.2 SEXUAL HARASSMENT
The “Friends” does not tolerate sexual harassment. Sexual harassment includes unwelcome 
sexual advances, requests
For sexual favours, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when
• Submission of such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a 
management member’s employment or volunteer’s placement; or
• Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a management member or volunteer is 
used as the basis for engagement decisions affecting the management member or volun-
teer placement; or
• Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with a management 
member’s or volunteer’s work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive 
work environment.
If a management member or volunteer feels harassed or offended by another manager 
member or volunteer, a supervisory or management person, a customer/patron, or any 
other person whom s/he encounters in the course of employment or volunteer placement, 
whether the opposite sex or same sex, and does not want to deal with the problem direct-
ly, the management member or volunteer should contact his/her supervisor, department 
head, division head, any member of the
“Friends” management, volunteer manager, or a member of the human resources depart-
ment.

7.3 GENERAL HARASSMENT
The “Friends” believes that every management member and volunteer has the right to work 
in an environment free from harassment and will not tolerate harassment based on race, 
color, creed, religion, national origin, sex, sexual preference or orientation, disability, age, 
marital status, or status with regard to public assistance.
General Harassment includes unwelcome verbal or physical conduct that denigrates or 
shows hostility or aversion toward a management member or volunteer because of his/her 
status in relationship to a class defined above when such conduct
• Has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environ-
ment;
• Has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with a management member’s or 
volunteer’s work performance;

• Otherwise adversely affects the management member’s employment opportunities or 
volunteer placement; and τhe Corporation knows or should know of the existence of ha-
rassment and fails to take timely and appropriate action.
General harassment does not include negative effects a management member or volun-
teer may experience as a result of actions taken by a supervisor that are within the scope 
of the supervisor’s responsibilities and would be considered reasonable and appropriate 
actions.
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7.4 ZERO TOLERANCE OF VIOLENCE
The “Friends” will not tolerate violence on or around its premises either by or against man-
agement members, volunteers, or members of the public. Management members and vol-
unteers are expected to treat other human beings with respect and dignity.
Any incident of violence should be reported promptly to the appropriate supervisor, volun-
teer manager, department head, division head, or any member of management... Violence 
includes, but is not limited to, verbal or physical intimidation, contact, or threats. Reported 
incidents are subject to investigation or corrective action. Any management member or 
volunteer who does not comply with this policy may be subject to discipline, up to and in-
cluding dismissal.

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
“FRIENDS OF KEEWATIN”
Please sign the enclosed document to show that you have read the above, understand it 
and the responsibilities you have as a volunteer.

Name of volunteer..................................................................................................

Street Address..............................................Apt. Number...............

Postal Code...............................

Email.........................................................................................................................

Phone number..........................

Volunteer area assigned..................................
I have read the above document on the Policies and Procedures for “Friends of Keewatin” 
and understand and agree with them.

Date enrolled.

Signed.......................................................Print name.............................................

Date.................................................

Accepted..................................................................................................................
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AN OPEN LETTER ON BEHALF OF THE S.S. KEEWATIN FROM IT’S STUDENT CREW OF 2017

My name is Rayne Arthurs, I’m 18 years old and currently studying to 
be a Veterinary Technician at St. Clair College in Windsor Ontario. I was 
born and raised in Midland, our town of rich history and adventure, and 
this summer I was lucky enough to be employed by the S.S. Keewatin as 
a student tour guide.

When I first walked on board I was very nervous, as I knew I would be 
spending my entire summer here. I was a bit apprehensive, as history 
has never particularly inspired me (animals are a very different interest 
than Canadian history, it turns out) but after the first day, I knew I had 
found something very special.

The Keewatin sets off an atmosphere that’s hard to explain to someone unless you’ve experienced it 
yourself. It alludes to something very mysterious. It makes you think about all the possible things that 
have happened aboard during it’s 111 year life span. It draws you in. There is no other ship like the 
Keewatin. Not only figuratively, but quite literally as well, the Keewatin being the only to remain of it’s 
5 ship fleet.

Over the course of the summer the Keewatin has won my heart and become one of my favourite plac-
es to be. I learned incredible history and as a tour guide got the privilege to share it with others every 
single day. It is one of my greatest passions to be on board. Every single staff member and volunteer 
has a fascination for our ship and you can see it everyday in the work that we do. Our crew ranges 
widely in age, yet we all feel the same way about the Keewatin; home.

I worked along side 5 other student guides and many other volunteer guides as well. Together we 
all work to give the best possible experience on our ship, sharing history telling stories, and showing 
everything we have to offer. I grew very close to my crew and have made many multiple lifelong friend-
ships. We all share the same passion for our ship, and a few of co-workers had this to say;

“Being able to work on the Keewatin for the past two summers and volunteering 
throughout the offseason has been indescribable. The history and constant unveil-
ing of knowledge never stops aboard the Keewatin and it’s story is far from over. 
This is a one in million, quite literally since there are none of these ships left. Having 
grown up in Midland and surrounding areas the history of the area is fascinating. 
Adding the Keewatin to the portfolio would continue to enrich the lives of residents 
and educate the next generation of children how important our home is and was to 
shaping Canada’s history. Having a fresh start in Midland is all we can hope for. I’ve 
come to admire the Keewatin and I hope you will too. Thank you for your consider-
ation.” 
-Tyler Boswell, Carleton University Research Assistant for the Department of 
Political Science, Parliamentary Member’s Assistant.



“Having the experience of meeting people from around the world gave me a 
bigger meaning to the job and made me feel as if I was doing my part in the 
community. During the summer the ship became home and I miss it everyday 
since I came back to school. The Keewatin has become a part of my life and I 
will never forget and I will always love.”
 -Ashlyn Chaves.

AN OPEN LETTER ON BEHALF OF THE S.S. KEEWATIN FROM IT’S STUDENT CREW OF 2017

The Keewatin is an amazing piece of history floating in our very own waters and standing strong at 
111 years old. It’s a privilege to walk on that ship everyday and my feelings towards it never change. 
I’m in awe every single day. This ship has let me meet so many people from around the world, learning 
together and sharing stories alike. I wish to continue my experience with this ship for many years to 
come. I have learned to love history, develop a passion for it, not just tolerate it in class. And for that, I 
will always be thankful.” - Rayne Arthurs, St. Clair College, Veterinary Technician student.

I hope that Midland can agree with us when we say, “the Keewatins story is far from over”. 

Thank you for your consideration, on behalf of the student crew of 2017,

Rayne Arthurs



            81 Isabella St.

            Parry Sound, ON

            P2A 1M7

            February 8, 2018

Mayor Gordon McKay

Town of Midland

575 Dominion Ave.

Midland, ON

L4R 1R2

Dear Mayor McKay:

This letter is in support of a proposal by the R.J. and Diane Peterson Keewatin Foundation to move the S.S. Kee-
watin from her current (no longer available) berth at Port McNicoll to a suitable haven in Midland.  Although 
the ship had no direct connection to Midland, she did spend time at the old Midland Shipyard for maintenance 
and on that account was no stranger to the town.

The Keewatin is of extreme historical importance on two levels.  In terms of Canadian history, she was the last 
in a long line of ships that connected southern Ontario to what would become the western provinces of the 
country.  Until completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway’s line that connected Toronto to the trans-continental 
line at Sudbury in 1908, steamships were the only means of connection to the west.  They (Keewatin included) 
mere multi-purpose vessels, carrying aspiring settlers to Fort William (now Thunder Bay) and returning with 
grain, flour, and other agricultural products.  This accounts for the fact of her engine being located aft to afford 
the necessary consecutive space, but more on that shortly.

When Keewatin joined the fleet in 1908, westward immigration was in full swing, and the ships, rather than 
being replaced by the new railway line, operated in conjunction with it, carrying thousands of immigrants from 
such diverse countries as Scotland, Poland, Hungary, and, most numerous of all, Ukrainians, whose heritage lies 
heavily over Manitoba and Alberta to this day.  As the historian Donald Creighton would remark, “Multicultural-
ism was born in western Canada”.

Additionally, the ships (Keewatin and her near-twin Assiniboia) assisted the railway during both world wars in 
movement of troops.  

Even with rail travel becoming more popular, especially after 1908, Keewatin and Assiniboia were kept busy 
carrying passengers, freight, and automobiles (especially before completion of the Trans-Canada highway).  The 
two ships reached their “best-before” date in 1966 and were put up for sale.  And this is where a lamentable 
disregard for history comes into the picture.

The British writer Arnold Toynbee once described history as “something unpleasant that happens to someone 
else”.  But we cannot deal with the future without understanding the past; and what better way of acquiring a 
sense of Canada’s past as it existed from 1908 to 1966 than a visit aboard Keewatin?  Already there is a parallel 



in Midland at Sainte Marie-Among-the-Hurons and at Penetang, the location of Discovery Harbour.  Thus Mid-
land has an opportunity to showcase yet another period in history.

When the two historic ships were put up for sale, no Canadian stepped forward to buy one for preservation.  The 
Assiniboia was purchased by American interests for restaurant duty in New Jersey; sadly she would be destroyed 
by fire.  R.J. Peterson of Michigan, long a “fan” of Keewatin, bought her as a centrepiece for his marina and lov-
ingly maintained her as a marine museum for 45 years.  In 2011, the old ship was purchased by a Canadian com-
pany, Skyline International Developments,  for the purpose of serving the same purpose in a re-development of 
the Port McNicoll’s then-desolate docklands.  With Eric Conroy in command as project manager, Keewatin was 
towed back to Port McNicoll, her erstwhile home base, and was welcomed by a massive convoy of assorted ves-
sels and an equally massive crowd on shore, a certain testament to the affection for the old ship held by so many 
– an enormous “fan base”, as one might say, and the nucleus of the numerous visitors on board each summer.

Now Skyline has had a change of plan and sold its Port McNicoll holdings to a company that does not wish to 
include Keewatin in the sale.  Therefore she needs a new home and Midland would be ideal, being that it is such 
a hub of Georgian Bay history.

Despite the valiant efforts of some, Canada has a spotty record for preservation of large maritime artifacts and 
to lose Keewatin to some other locale would be nothing short of a travesty.  An enormous opportunity awaits 
Midland, an opportunity wasted by another Ontario community (which we prefer not to name), the current 
home of the motorship Norgoma, which lies in a state of neglect so bad that the mayor wants to “get rid of that 
thing”, even though the little ship so strongly represents Georgian Bay history.  We hope Midland can do better.

There is another aspect to Keewatin’s history, apart from her role in Canada’s development.  She is the only 
surviving representative in the entire world of passenger ships of the Edwardian era; in fact, she has been the 
location of several film shoots in which require a period maritime setting.

The machinery-aft factor is also of interest.  While it was a matter of practicality as previously mentioned, a 
similar pattern was adopted by the ocean-going S.S. Matsonia in 1913 and then starting with the revolutionary 
British liner Southern Cross in 1955, the pattern became more and more common until virtually all of today’s 
cruise ships follow the same format.

And on the matter of cruising, it can be argued that Keewatin was a pioneer in that now enormous (and expand-
ing) industry.  Even as the railway prospered, there were still folks who preferred a leisurely voyage up the Great 
Lakes, often, as time went on, treating the ship herself as a destination.

 Now that the cruising industry has gained traction on the Great Lakes, the presence of Keewatin at Mid-
land would offer a unique opportunity for passengers to see what a passenger ship on the Great Lakes would 
have been like a century ago.

Bearing all these factors in mind, we hope very much that the Town of Midland will be able to host this remark-
able relic of a now-vanished but fascinating era.  Thank you for your consideration.

Very truly yours,

Steven Duff

Parry Sound, ON
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As	ongoing	donors	to	the	SS	Keewatin	project	we	are	thrilled	to	hear	of	the	possible	
move	of	this	historic	vessel	to	the	Town	of	Midland!	We	fully	support	this	potential	
move.				
	
Midland	is	the	vibrant	hub	of	the	Georgian	Bay	region	and	to	add	such	a	diamond	
attraction	to	the	town	can	only	encourage	further	interest	and	attention	from	people	
in	the	town	and	beyond	the	region.		Midland	is	blessed	with	a	number	of	diamond	
type	attractions	and	each	adds	to	the	others	and	together	make	the	town	an	even	
greater	destination	for	tourism.	The	impact	of	these	different	attractions	is	certain	
to	be	greater	than	the	sum	of	their	parts.	What	a	win	win	scenario	for	all	involved!		
	
It	has	been	our	delight	to	visit	the	Queen	Mary	in	Los	Angeles	and	I	hear	that	the	
Queen	Elizabeth	2	is	about	to	open	as	a	hotel	in	Dubai	and	the	SS	Rotterdam	now	is	
a	main	attraction	in	the	Netherlands	so	there	are	thriving	examples	of	ships	of	past	
ages	as	attractions	to	draw	on	as	one	looks	to	the	potential	of	this	enterprise.	The	
Keewatin	is	an	illustrious	companion	to	these	magnificent	vessels.			
	
The	Keewatin	is	a	remarkable	and	historic	vessel	that	opens	a	window	for	all	to	see	
and	experience	a	bygone	age.		Those	who	have	looked	after	her	return	to	Canada	
and	her	ongoing	restoration	deserve	a	great	deal	of	thanks	and	credit	for	saving	her	
and	bringing	her	before	the	public.		She	is	a	treasure	to	be	sure!	
	
This	move	appears	to	be	the	next	step	in	the	life	of	Keewatin	as	she	gains	more	
recognition	in	Canada	and	around	the	world.	
	
	
John	and	Janet	Read				
	
	
	
			


